

A Journal of Student Policy Ideas from Across the Roosevelt Network



10 Ideas Program Team

KATIE KIRCHNER

ALICE JANIGRO
ALYSSA BEAUCHAMP
EAMON ROSS
ELIJAH WILSON

SONYA GURWITT TAYRA LUCERO VICTORIA STREKER

Network Student Policy Coordinators

COURTNEY WASHINGTON
JENNIFER ZHANG
LAURA WIDMAN
LINDSEY HAUGHTON

SNIPTA MALICK
WITTER SWANSON

Roosevelt Staff Submission Review Committee

ALICE JANIGRO ANNA SMITH CAMILLA LOPEZ EMILY DIVITO IVAN CAZARIN

MANON STEEL

JOSEPH MILLER KATY NELSON SOPHIA SPRIGGS

Network Alumni Submission Review Committee

ALICIA WHITE
ANDREW MILLIN
AUSTIN PERELKA
BLAKE O'CONNOR
CARLEY PRZYSTAC
DOMINIC RUSSEL
HANNAH BLUMENFELD-LOVE
JOEL LUGONES
JOHN FORD
LEILA PEDERSEN

MARI HICKS
MICHAEL MILLER
NNEKA EWULONU
OLIVIA COHN
PARKER CELLURA
SABA MUNDLAY
TRACEE SAUNDERS
VALERIE NAUMAN
ZACH FRIEDEN
ZACHARY AGUSH

Who We Are

The Roosevelt Network trains, develops, and supports emerging progressive policymakers, researchers, and advocates, focusing on communities historically denied political power. With locations on campuses and in cities in nearly 40 US states, the Network is founded on the principle that changing who writes the rules can help fulfill the promise of American democracy and build true public power. The Network supports student-led, scalable policy campaigns that fight for the equitable provision, distribution, and accessibility of public goods at the campus, local, and state levels. In addition to its student-led activities, the organization leverages the power of its alumni network—which includes public officials, lawyers, teachers, nonprofit executives, and researchers—to expand opportunities for the next generation of policy leaders. A program of the Roosevelt Institute, the Network operates alongside leading economists and political scientists to bring the ideals of Franklin and Eleanor Roosevelt into the 21st century.

What You're Reading

Now in its 13th edition, the Roosevelt Network's 10 Ideas journal is a testament to the importance of changing who writes the rules. While this journal isn't a policy agenda of our network, it does highlight the issue areas most important to our students during a year in which we've lived through a global pandemic, economic crisis, and mass movements to confront white supremacy and police brutality. The 10 student-developed policy proposals in this journal are visionary but also scalable. They chart bold new ways to deploy public power for the public good, spanning issue areas and geographies. Each proposal is the product of at least six months of work that included identifying a problem, conducting formal research, organizing and collaborating with local organizations and partners, and an intensive editing and review period that involved feedback from Roosevelt staff and alumni.

How You Can Participate

To learn more about our work and how to get involved, follow us on Twitter and Instagram at aRooseveltntwrk and visit our website www.rooseveltinstitute.org. Together, we can change who writes the rules and help fulfill the ideals of American democracy, revive our economy, and build true public power. Thank you for reading and supporting the work of Roosevelters.

Dear Readers,

It is an incredibly daunting task to address the last year and a half succinctly in this letter. But as I sit in my childhood bedroom fighting my dad for bandwidth on the wifi, and my cat meows at me to feed him from across the room, I will do my best. This is an opening to the 10 Ideas journal unlike any other, in a year that has been unlike any other.

As I've thought about the last 15 months, the word I have found myself coming back to is unrelenting. On top of the pain, isolation, and loss from COVID-19, emboldened white supremacy has escalated as a very real and constant threat. There is an urgent need for visionary new ideas to lead us out of this moment, yet our focus has been continuously pulled to react to the onslaught of threats. Just making it through the day or the week has sometimes felt like all that we can do, and too many of us know people who have not made it.

Many times, I have wished I had more to offer in the way of solutions, or more answers about what we can do to confront the compounding crises we're living through. But when I read the policies in this journal for the first time all together, I was reminded that I alone don't need to have all the answers; we, collectively, have the answers. At its core, policy is a mechanism for realizing the dreams we have for our communities. The ideas in this journal dream of safety, of justice, of accountability. They respond to the last 15 months and push us beyond our current reality toward something better. They demonstrate the power and creativity of this network, one that I am deeply humbled and honored to lead (in yoga pants, surrounded by babyblue painted walls, under the watchful eye of my cat).

Wherever you are as you read this, I hope that the ideas in this journal inspire you as they have inspired me. I hope that they offer a glimmer of hope that we all so desperately need. I am very proud of the ideas here, and of all the work that has gone into making this journal possible. Mostly, I am proud of this network and each person who helps make it stronger. Thank you for continuing to rewrite the rules with us.

Katie Kirchner

National Director, Roosevel Network

Kathyn Kul

Contents

EDUCATION

- 6 Changing University Hiring Processes to Protect Students From Sexual Harassment
- 8 Toward Restorative Justice in Missouri Schools: Crafting More Specific School Suspension Guidelines

ECONOMY

10 Expanding Digital Equity from Seattle to All of King County

HEALTH CARE

- 12 Increasing Knowledge and Consumption of Folic Acid for Hispanic Women in Dallas
- 14 Installing Public Bathrooms to Aid People Experiencing Homelessness in Bakersfield and Kern County

HUMAN RIGHTS

- 16 Redistributing the George Mason University Police Department Budget to Create a Mobile Crisis Intervention Team
- 18 Empowering Individuals in the Foster System: Increasing Opportunity Through an Alternative Form of Identification

DEMOCRATIC ACCESS

20 Expanding Ballot Access in Massachusetts through Permanent Implementation of Vote-by-Mail and All-Mail Elections

CLIMATE & ENERGY JUSTICE

- 23 Improving Health in South Los Angeles by Reducing Local Oil Development
- 25 Ending Parking Minimums in Boston to Improve Livability

Changing University Hiring Processes to Protect Students From Sexual Harassment

By Ella Chinn

Roosevelt @ SUNY Binghamton

THESIS

To protect its students, SUNY Binghamton should change its hiring processes and require potential professors to be transparent regarding past accusations of sexual harassment or misconduct at former places of employment.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Colleges have a responsibility to create a safe environment in which students are able to pursue an education and grow. However, certain hiring processes at colleges across the US can make it harder to attain this safety, as professors who sexually harass students are able to resign if they are not found guilty of an actual crime and be hired at a different institution (Brown et al. 2020; Flaherty 2017). This creates an unsafe environment for students at the professor's next position. In fact, over half of professors who are sexual assault agressors are past offenders, meaning that they had committed an offense at a previous place of work and were then rehired at a different institution where they committed similar offenses (Flaherty 2017). Colleges can take the appropriate actions to try and ensure their students' safety, but oftentimes they may be completely unaware of applicants' past violations. This may happen for several reasons, including the fact that a harassment or misconduct violation wouldn't show up on a criminal background check, or that the previous college signed a confidential settlement agreement in order to preserve its own reputation (Schlavensky 2019). This vicious cycle protects and grants anonymity to aggressors, allowing them to become repeat offenders while leaving survivors without a way to heal and seek justice.

Due to the vague definition of sexual harassment and the confidentiality of most reports, it is difficult to get an accurate and complete understanding of the extent of sexual harassment by faculty members on college campuses (AAUW n.d.). However, a 2018 study shed light on statistics regarding the prevalence of sexual harassment by professors. The study found that "one in ten female graduate students at major research universities report being sexually harassed by a faculty member" (Chi 2018). In another study involving 525 male and female graduate students, 38 percent of female students and 23.4 percent of male students reported having been sexually harassed by a faculty member (Rosenthal 2016).

Due to the issue of underreporting, it is difficult to find data specific to SUNY Binghamton. However, anecdotal evidence suggests that the school has a problem with sexual violence. Last year, an Instagram account called @shareyourstorybing became popular. The account provides a platform for survivors to anonymously share their stories regarding sexual assault, sexual harrasment, rape, and other forms of sexual violence at SUNY Binghamton. Since the account's first post in June of 2020, it has shared over 800 submissions, many of which describe the predatory actions of professors and faculty members. The administration at Binghamton University has voiced their support for survivors, but more action must be taken to prevent these instances of sexual violence from occurring in the first place.

THE POLICY IDEA

When hiring new educators, SUNY Binghamton should require applicants to sign an "Authorization to Release Information Form" as part of the application process. The form would require that SUNY Binghamton be made aware of all accusations of sexual harassment or other forms of misconduct by the applicant at former places of employment. Such incidents would then be evaluated in accordance with Binghamton University's Faculty Code of Conduct (Binghamton University n.d.) to determine whether the applicant should be considered for the position.



POLICY ANALYSIS

This policy could have a monumental impact on the lives of Binghamton University students. By adding the proposed extra layer of protection against offending applicants, SUNY Binghamton will better protect its students and more thoroughly vet incoming faculty members.

It is in the university's best interest to support this policy. Given the national data and the prevalence of sexual violence on campus evidenced by the @shareyourstorybing account, this worrying trend could have significant negative impacts for SUNY Binghamton should it continue. Sexual harassment by a professor not only puts students' safety in jeopardy and causes them lasting harm, it also hurts the institution's reputation and leads to extra legal fees the university must pay for. Modern interpretations of Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972 have put the burden on institutions in the case of sexual misconduct by an employee, which has led to universities being held liable for such incidents (Wilson 2014).

Other universities have already successfully implemented similar policies. In 2018, UC Davis sought to put a stop to the cycle of rehiring repeat offenders by implementing a pilot program in its hiring process (UC Davis n.d.) that required applicants to sign an "Authorization to Release Information Form." This form allowed officials to ask questions and access information related to "findings of misconduct," even if that information was confidential. In 2018, the University of Wisconsin successfully implemented a similar policy in its hiring process as well (UW n.d.). This additional layer of vetting helps to protect students and ensure that they are being given a safe environment where they are able to learn.

One argument against this kind of policy is that it might be problematic for faculty who were falsely accused of sexual harassment. However, instances of falsified allegations of sexual harassment are extremely rare (Lazard 2017), and while this policy may reveal reported incidences of misconduct, it does not bar administrators from hiring the applicant in question since it allows for cases to be evaluated on a case-by-case basis.

- The "pass the harasser" trend occurs at colleges and universities across the US and allows faculty who have sexually harassed students at one institution to covertly resign and then be employed at a new one. This enables repeat offenders and allows them to avoid consequences (Brown et al. 2020).
- Over half of the cases of sexual harassment by faculty members on college campuses involve repeat offenders (Flaherty 2017).
- Requiring transparency when hiring new faculty helps to keep students safe and discourages past offenders from applying to new open positions.
- Even if a misconduct report was filed at a former place of employment, the situation of each job applicant will be evaluated on a case-by-case basis to determine if the accusation disqualifies them from the position.

Toward Restorative Justice in Missouri Schools: Crafting More Specific School Suspension Guidelines

By Matthew Friedman, George Johnson, and Borna Dianati Roosevelt @ Washington University in St. Louis

THESIS

Missouri should expand its in-school suspension guidelines to create a more productive suspension experience for students, employing restorative justice practices to reduce the necessity of out-of-school suspensions and to lessen the racial achievement and attainment gaps.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Missouri has a large racial achievement gap in education: Black students score 23 percentage points lower than their white peers on reading and math tests (Delaney and Moxley 2019) and have a graduation rate 12 percentage points lower than white students (NCES 2020). School suspensions account for one-fifth of the difference in Black-white student performance (Morris and Perry 2016): In Missouri, even though Black students make up just 16 percent of the state's public school population, they represent nearly half of all out-of-school suspensions (Groeger et al. 2018). In the 2015—2016 school year, Missouri's Black students lost 122 days of school per 100 students to out of school suspension, compared to just 22 days lost per 100 students for white students (Losen and Whitaker 2018). Reforming Missouri's suspension system would therefore address racial disparities in education and begin to tackle the school-to-prison-pipeline, the system by which overly strict school punishment shifts (predominately Black) students off of educational pathways and into the criminal justice system, contributing to mass incarceration (Schiff 2013).

Out-of-school suspension (OSS) is particularly harmful to students, as it damages their self-perceptions and confidence while also restricting their learning—OSS is associated with significant drops in educational achievement and higher dropout rates (Noltemayer, Ward, and McLaughlin 2015). The unnecessary vagueness of Missouri's OSS policy allows for implicit bias in suspension decisions, as the only requirement for a student to be suspended out of school is that the student's conduct be "prejudicial to good order and discipline in the schools or which tends to impair the morale or good conduct of the pupils" (Baker 2017, 28). This lack of clarity means, for example, that it is up to administrators to determine what constitutes behavior that would merit suspension, and that an administrator could decide that a Black student's behavior is "prejudicial to good order" even if a white student doing the same thing is not punished as harshly.

Missouri law encourages schools to give in-school suspensions before moving to out-of-school suspensions (US Department of Education 2020), providing an opportunity to use in-school suspensions as a learning experience that would prevent future suspension or disciplinary action. However, there is no guidance about what in-school suspension should entail (US Department of Education 2020).

Restorative justice focuses on helping students grow from their mistakes, and in the context of suspensions could employ future-oriented discussions rather than a punishment-focused approach. Incorporating elements of restorative justice into discipline routines—such as conversations with harmed individuals—has fostered success in schools nationwide (Gregory and Evans 2020).

THE POLICY IDEA

The Missouri legislature should grant authority to the state Board of Education to convene a committee made up of education researchers, teachers, and principals to develop more specific guidelines for schools to approach suspensions through restorative justice practices. These new guidelines should give instructions for how to provide restorative and growth-based in-school suspension programs that will lessen the state's reliance on out-of-school suspensions and help limit the racial achievement gap.



POLICY ANALYSIS

We advocate for a holistic approach to address racial disparities in school suspensions; our policy would reduce harmful out-of-school suspension programs while also providing guidance for effective in-school suspensions to take their place. This two-pronged method would enrich students' learning by not depriving them of valuable time spent in class, while also reducing the detrimental impacts of out-of-school suspension.

A committee appointed by the Board of Education would be the best way to implement our idea because it will be able to balance information from literature on restorative justice with the realities of Missouri classrooms. Our policy would streamline the implementation process for creating guidelines for in-school suspension by taking advantage of the Board of Education as a structure that already exists. Instituting new guidelines without consulting relevant experts risks rushed, uninformed plans that would serve to maintain the status quo. For example, states like Virginia have attempted to implement bans on out-of-school suspensions without providing infrastructure for in-school suspensions, leading to ineffective results (Woolard, Salas, and Deane 2018). While out-of-school punishment is antiquated and punishes students without restoring positive behavior, immediately banning it would put schools in untenable positions.

Pairing a reduction in OSS with new guidelines for in-school suspension like emphasis on growth mindset will allow for students' emotional enrichment and prevent future harm. These benefits will return any investment associated with shifting to and improving in-school suspension programs, as more students will avoid the school-to-prison pipeline and there will be less need for spending on other social services. For example, through the use of techniques such as peer mediation and restorative circles, 277 Minnesota school principals found that behavior referrals and suspensions dropped by 45 to 63 percent, while academic achievement as a whole also increased (Schiff 2013). Furthermore, restorative justice programs in other parts of the country have led to significant reductions in out-of-school suspensions, such as at West Philadelphia High School where the implementation of restorative justice measures was associated with a 50 percent drop in the rate of out-of-school suspensions within a year (Schiff 2013, 10). Creating positive relationships between students and faculty reduces recidivism rates and fosters a learning environment in which students learn the value of responsibility rather than feeling humiliated by traditional punishment.

Restorative justice is a way to reduce the increasing similarities between public school systems and juvenile detention centers (for example, increased police presence, zero tolerance policies, and metal detectors), while also improving students' academic ability. Rather than relying on punishment and brute force methods that often target minority students—mirroring the justice system—schools can turn toward practices such as restorative mediation in order to build an inclusive community built upon students taking accountability for their actions rather than suffering harmful, arbitrary, and often meaningless punishment.

- Missouri's current guidelines for school suspensions are vague, allowing districts to punish students however they like.
- In Missouri, 44 percent of out-of-school suspensions are given to Black students even though they make up only 16 percent of all students (Groeger et al. 2018).
- Overuse of out-of-school suspensions and ineffective use of in-school suspensions harm students' academic growth and disproportionately harm Black students, further entrenching the school-to-prison pipeline (Morris and Perry 2016, 68).
- Restorative justice programs have led to significant reductions in out-of-school suspensions, such as at West Philadelphia High School where the implementation of restorative justice measures was associated with a 50 percent drop in the rate of out-of-school suspensions within a year (Schiff 2013, 10).
- Schools that adopt restorative justice measures can avoid the negative academic effects associated with school suspensions, which would limit the racial achievement gap (Payne and Welch 2013).



Expanding Digital Equity from Seattle to All of King County

By Titus Kariuki Roosevelt @ University of Washington

THESIS

To counter the ongoing digital inequities affecting the Black and Latinx residents of King County, WA, the county government should expand Seattle's Technology Matching Fund (TMF) county-wide, enabling nonprofits to allocate digital resources necessary for job accessibility to residents who lack access to them.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Thirty percent of King County households lack access to computers and digital devices (Public Health — Seattle and King County 2020), compared to only 6 percent of households in the entire state of Washington (US Census Bureau 2019). Based on the 2019 census count, this means that approximately 676,000 out of the total 2,252,782 King County residents do not have access to computers. Fifty-two percent (roughly 351,000) of the residents who lack access to digital resources are Black and Latinx (City of Seattle Digital Equity Initiative 2016), and have faced increased difficulties as the COVID-19 pandemic has forced millions of workers to work remotely. Data from a 2017-2018 US Bureau of Labor Statistics survey showed that from a select number of participants, only 19.7 percent of Black residents (3,522 out of 17,924) and 16.2 percent of the Hispanic and Latinx residents (3,961 out of 24,375) were able to work from home, whereas 29.9 percent of their white counterparts could do so (34,390 out of 115,129) (US Bureau of Labor Statistics 2019). These marginalized groups of people would have been an added resource to the county's economy had they been able to access equitable resources that allowed them to work remotely.

There are several causes of digital inequity across the US. One is disproportionate socioeconomic income levels: Those who earn over \$75,000 are 20 times more likely to have internet and 10 times more likely to own a computer than people who earn \$30,000 or less. Furthermore, low- and middle-income residents are less digitally literate, hindering their professional development (Mracek 2018). Level of education is another factor that influences digital inequity; college degree holders are 10 times likelier to have internet access as compared to individuals with a high school education or lower, which further widens the digital illiteracy gap (Steele 2019). This gap in digital equity is self-perpetuating, as internet access and digital skills are often crucial for attaining employment and developing skills for an ever-evolving economy (Mracek 2018).

In King County specifically, one cause of digital inequity is the lack of a concrete structure to distribute digital infrastructure throughout the county. The City of Seattle has worked to solve this issue within the city itself; since the 1990s, the city has partnered with organizations on various programs to increase digital equity, including a Technology Matching Fund (TMF) that gives grants to qualifying nonprofit organizations in Seattle for up to \$25,000 for digital equity projects. In 2015, Seattle launched a Digital Equity Initiative with further plans and strategies to help Seattle residents access and utilize digital resources (City of Seattle Digital Equity Initiative 2016).

THE POLICY IDEA

A Technology Matching Fund (TMF) should be implemented by the King County Department of Information Technology (KCIT). It should function similarly to Seattle's TMF, and should provide \$25,000 grants to fund qualifying nonprofits to implement digital equity projects. These projects will increase internet and technology access to Black and Latinx communities via digital skills and provision of devices and broadband (Seattle IT 2018). Continual allocation of TMF grants would expand technology access and help the Black and Latinx communities get more involved in the county economy.



POLICY ANALYSIS

Since its inception, Seattle's TMF has provided free internet to 223 organizations and low-cost internet to 2,469 low-income residents, 182 of whom got laptops as well. These resources have enhanced connectivity and opportunities for Seattle residents, especially those from Seattle Housing Authority communities and children in public housing (Seattle IT 2019). Furthermore, the TMF has funded 23 organizations that provide digital skills training, and so far 1,496 residents have been trained in basic technology and digital skills. Additionally, this training and funding has allowed 373 of those residents to receive job opportunities and improve their career skills, and 1,285 youth have benefited from the STEM, digital learning, and enrichment programs funded by the TMF (City of Seattle 2018).

The underserved Black and Latinx residents of King County would benefit from an expansion of the TMF, as it would give them greater technology exposure and therefore increased preparedness heading into the job market (Liu 2019). Prospective employers would also benefit from this policy, as it would expand and diversify available digital labor (Funk and Parker 2018). Other beneficiaries of the TMF would be local organizations and small businesses, who with the help of the King County Information Technology Department (KCIT), could implement technology solutions that help them function and provide tech-efficient services to their clients.

One argument against this proposal might be its cost, given the local government's limited resources. However, funding the TMF will be an investment in the county. An expanded TMF would allow nonprofits to supply technology to underserved Black and Latinx communities, who in turn could leverage their technology resources and skills to be a more active part of the local economy.

- Nearly 351,000 Black and Latinx King County residents lack or have limited access to digital devices (Public Health-Seattle and King County 2020).
- Technology may not be necessary for all jobs, but technology skills are. As we have seen during the COVID-19 pandemic, digital skills and access to digital equipment allow for remote work, providing income during unforeseen times and reducing unemployment claims.
- A Technology Matching Fund could provide grants worth up to \$25,000 to qualifying King County nonprofits to accelerate digital equity action plans to underserved communities.

Increasing Knowledge and Consumption of Folic Acid for Hispanic Women in Dallas

By Nigel Gray, Sana Khan, Lexis Khetsavanh, and Nithya Jaisankar Roosevelt @ University of Texas at Dallas

THESIS

To address racial disparities in the occurrence of neural tube defects in infants, Dallas authorities should implement local education initiatives via a community health worker model to increase Hispanic women's knowledge and consumption of folic acid.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Women who are able to reproduce (ages 15—50) are advised to take 400 micrograms of folic acid daily to prevent infant neural tube defects (NTDs)—severe birth defects of the brain and spinal cord (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2018; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019). However, a 2002 study found that only 21 percent of Hispanic women obtain the recommended amount of folic acid from fortified foods and supplements compared to 40.5 percent of non-Hispanic white women. Lower knowledge and consumption of folic acid and higher rates of unintended pregnancies among Hispanic women make them vulnerable to having babies with birth defects, especially because NTDs often occur by the first month of pregnancy, before a woman is even aware she is pregnant (Flores et al. 2017; Preidt 2008). Around one in five women in Dallas are Hispanic, and the infant mortality rate in Dallas county is higher than that of Texas as a whole—7.4 deaths per 1,000 live births—making the issue of preventing NTDs especially important in the Dallas area (Parkland Hospital 2008; US Census Bureau 2019). Birth defects are the number one cause of death for Hispanic infants in the US (Ely and Driskoll 2019, 16). Educating Hispanic women on the importance of folic acid consumption can decrease the prevalence of NTDs by 85 percent, but a disproportionate number of Hispanic women, especially those who primarily speak Spanish or have lived in the US for a shorter period of time, do not know about the benefits of folic acid and do not consume the recommended amount (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019).

Nationally, treating birth defects cost over \$2.2 billion in 2010, and the average cost per hospitalization in Texas was \$53,000 (Arth et al. 2017; Texas Department of State Health Services 2019). Yet these statistics do not even touch on the cost of long-term care. In Texas, 30.8 percent of Hispanic residents are uninsured—more than twice the rate of uninsured white residents—making it impossible for a large number of them to obtain adequate care for a child with birth defects (Kaiser Family Foundation 2020). Moreover, not having insurance prevents women from securing affordable prenatal supplements, further exacerbating poor health and financial outcomes for Hispanic populations.

THE POLICY IDEA

We propose the creation of community health care programs specifically designed to teach Hispanic women in the Dallas area about folic acid. In the past, this kind of model has succeeded in educating Hispanic communities on illnesses such as diabetes and arthritis (National Center for Farmworker Health 2019). By applying the model toward folic acid, we hope to increase awareness for women of childbearing age about the importance of folic acid consumption to prevent neural tube defects in newborns.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Our policy would follow the Promotores de Salud model, which has been effective in increasing awareness regarding other health care topics in the past (Flores et al. 2017). This model operates through the recruitment of community health care workers, or Promotores, who are well-known members of Hispanic communities trained to educate other members of their community on health care issues. This model works well because people tend to follow the advice of those they identify with rather than general informational pamphlets.

For example, a study implemented in Harris County, Texas to test the effectiveness of the Promotores de Salud model for folic acid education showed an eleven-fold increase in folic acid consumption among Hispanic women ages 18—45 after a folic acid and NTD educational session and after the women were provided with a 90-day supply of multivitamins (Flores et al. 2017).

As a result of education about the importance of folic acid, folic acid intake will likely increase. This could be somewhat costly—the average cost of folic acid is \$6.00 for 90 tablets, which means women of reproductive age would need to spend approximately \$900 on folic acid during the years they are able to reproduce—assuming they take one tablet every day during this time. However, these costs are minuscule in comparison to the cost of future NTD treatment—\$51,574 per patient per year—which is mostly funded through government programs such as Medicaid (Yi et al. 2011).

Overall, increasing folic acid consumption among women will reduce their future burden of disease and provide Hispanic populations with more resources to invest in education, health, and quality of life.

- The prevalence of neural tube defects (NTDs) among babies born to Hispanic women is greater than for non-Hispanic white and non-Hispanic Black women, and can be prevented through increased consumption of folic acid, a crucial prenatal vitamin (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention 2019).
- Folic acid education in Harris County, Texas led to an eleven-fold increase in folic acid consumption among Hispanic women between the ages of 18—45 years after a folic acid and NTD educational session and after the women were provided with a 90-day supply of multivitamins (Flores et al. 2017).
- Increasing maternal prenatal folic acid intake will prevent about 40 NTDs for Hispanic infants each year (CDC 2019).
- By implementing the Promotores de Salud model and training community health care workers to educate Hispanic women on folic acid, more women will be aware of the importance of this supplement in their diets, leading to a healthier population (Flores et. al 2017).

Installing Public Bathrooms to Aid People Experiencing Homelessness in Bakersfield and Kern County

By Tori Brookings
Roosevelt @ University of Southern California

THESIS

To provide proper sanitation for people experiencing homelessness in the City of Bakersfield and Kern County, CA, the Bakersfield-Kern Regional Homeless Collaborative should fund the installation and maintenance of public bathrooms—modeled after the Portland Loo—in both downtown Bakersfield and Old Town Kern.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

In recent years, Kern County and the City of Bakersfield have demonstrated their commitment to rectifying their ongoing homelessness crisis. The Bakersfield-Kern Regional Homeless Collaborative (BKRHC) was restructured in August of 2019, creating a nonprofit agency funded by the city and county that focuses on ending homelessness (Morgen 2019). The organization's 2021 report found that there are 2,150 people experiencing homelessness in Kern County (BKRHC 2021). Of this number, over half (1,581 individuals) are unsheltered (BKRHC 2021). The report also showed that homelessness disproportionately affects Black people in the county, as they account for 22 percent of the homeless population (BKRHC 2021) but just 6.3 percent of the county's total population (based on the 2020 Census) (US Census Bureau 2020). Additionally, although 30.6 percent of the men experiencing homelessness in Kern County were part of the sheltered count, only 21.6 percent of women experiencing homelessness were identified in the sheltered count—meaning a higher percentage of women than men experiencing homelessness were unsheltered. Despite some efforts by the county, lack of sanitation access for people experiencing homelessness is an issue that government officials have failed to adequately navigate—an even more vital need since the county's homeless population increased 27 percent in 2021 (Luiz 2021).

Even before 2021, access to sanitation for people experiencing homelessness was a significant issue. In September of 2019, Bakersfield City Council hired a private company for \$91,000 to remove excrement in Downtown Bakersfield and Old Town Kern (Luiz 2020). The contract was amended in October to include urine cleanup services for an additional \$31,000 (Luiz 2020). Throughout the initial three-month program, the cleanup service responded to 649 reports of human waste (Luiz 2020). The city still uses the program and voted to expand its coverage in March of 2021 for \$44,000, which shows that human waste presence has not declined since the program's start (KGET 2021). Without access to adequate bathrooms, people experiencing homelessness are exposed to infectious diseases and forced to use inconvenient and unhealthy sanitation practices. For example, during San Diego's 2016—2018 outbreak of Hepatitis A—which is transmitted through the fecal-oral route—people experiencing homelessness had 3.3 times higher odds of infection and 3.9 times higher odds of death associated with the disease (Peak et al. 2020). Furthermore, because poor sanitation is viewed as disrespectful in normal societal conventions, people experiencing homelessness who cannot access bathrooms also face social marginalization (De Vananzi 2008).

In 2008, the City of Portland, OR constructed a public bathroom to ensure sanitation access for its rising homeless population (Beaven 2019). The bathroom, called the Portland Loo, was designed to deter crime through features such as angled panels at the top and bottom of the bathroom; these panels increase visibility and thus allow law enforcement and security personnel to survey activity inside (Portland Loo 2020). The Portland Loo design uses durable building materials, and so it also prevents costly maintenance expenditures (Portland Loo 2020). As of 2019, more than 20 other cities have installed bathrooms of the same design (Portland Loo 2019).

THE POLICY IDEA

The BKRHC should fund the installation and maintenance of two Portland Loo public bathrooms—in Downtown Bakersfield and Old Town Kern—to provide sanitation access for Kern County's homeless population. These bathrooms should be sited according to Crime Prevention Environmental Design standards, which would maximize visibility by placing the bathrooms in high traffic areas (Portland Loo 2020). Additionally, the bathrooms should be monitored 24 hours a day, seven days a week, to further ensure their success.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Installing Portland Loo public bathrooms in Downtown Bakersfield and Old Town Kern will assist the homeless population, as well as nearby businesses.

In San Antonio, the number of citations issued for public urination were cut in half 10 months after the city installed its Portland Loo (Zielinski 2017). This improvement suggests that installing local units could successfully reduce human waste reports. Furthermore, results from a questionnaire sent in 2019 to cities with a Portland Loo in commercial areas show that nearby businesses in 13 of 14 cities are supportive of the bathroom, suggesting they were positively benefited by its installation (Bernbaum 2019).

Installing public bathrooms will also help people experiencing homelessness in Kern County. By decreasing the amount of human waste, the homeless population will be less vulnerable to infectious diseases. Moreover, the Portland Loos can rectify challenges related to menstruation and homelessness; a study conducted in New York City found that "uncertain access to safe, clean, private spaces for changing menstrual products" was a notable difficulty when managing menstruation while homeless (Sommer et. al 2020). Considering that a high percentage of women in Kern County's 2020 homeless population were unsheltered, it is clear that there is a need to provide reliable bathrooms to help people who menstruate (BKRHC 20201).

The Portland Loo is cost-effective—after a one-time upfront cost, yearly maintenance costs of the bathroom are much cheaper than the cleanup service utilized by the City of Bakersfield. One bathroom costs approximately \$130,000 to install and \$12,000 to \$20,000 a year to maintain (Bernbaum 2019), while the cleanup service used by the City of Bakersfield cost \$44,000 in 2021 (KGET 2021).

Citizens may be wary of the Portland Loos attracting criminal activity. However, while other cities with the bathroom faced this problem, their bathrooms were either not monitored or did not use highly visible sites (Bernbaum 2019). This policy's plan to use more visible sites and include monitoring would avoid abuse of the bathrooms.

- Kern County's homeless population increased 27 percent in 2021 (Luiz 2021).
- The City of Bakersfield's cleanup service responded to 649 reports of human waste in Bakersfield and Old Town Kern over three months in 2019 (Luiz 2020). The service was then expanded in 2021, meaning that issues with human waste have not declined since the program's start (Bakersfield 2021).
- Inadequate sanitation threatens the health of the homeless population. During San Diego's 2016—2018 outbreak of Hepatitis A—which is transmitted through the fecal-oral route—people experiencing homelessness had 3.3 times higher odds of infection (Peak et. al 2020). Lack of access to safe, clean, and private bathrooms is also burdensome during menstruation for people experiencing homelesssness (Sommer et al. 2020).
- In San Antonio, the number of citations issued for public urination were cut in half 10 months after installation of a Portland Loo (Zielinski 2017). Additionally, nearby businesses surveyed in 13 of 14 cities that installed Portland Loos are supportive of the bathroom (Bernbaum 2019).

Redistributing the George Mason University Police Department Budget to Create a Mobile Crisis Intervention Team

By Malcolm Law, Erica Harp, Ashley Stewart, Lexi Wilson, and Saahil Iyer Roosevelt @ George Mason University

THESIS

In order to expand access to mental health care services for students and prevent police violence against those with mental health conditions, George Mason University (GMU) should redistribute 2.14 percent of the \$8 million GMU Police Department budget to establish a Mobile Crisis Intervention Team (MCIT).

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

On May 14, 2018, Marcus-David Peters, a 24-year-old Black man, was killed by Richmond, VA police while experiencing a mental health crisis. Peters' story is unfortunately a familiar one; the chance of a person suffering from untreated mental illness being killed during an encounter with law enforcement is 16 times higher than for others approached by police (Fuller et al. 2015). Black men showing signs of mental illness are also more likely to be shot and killed by police than white men exhibiting similar behaviors (Thomas, Jewel, and Allen 2020).

These biases are also gendered—racially gendered narratives framing women of color as inherently "mentally unstable" also contribute to the ways police interact with Black and Indigenous women, and other women of color (Ritchie 2017). Although no official statistics exist, police encounters analyzed and compiled by prominent lawyer and activist Andrea Ritchie indicate that police responses to mental health crises make up a significant proportion of fatal encounters with police for Black women and women of color (Ritchie 2017).

College campuses are not exempt from police violence, and often have many students who struggle with mental illness. Suicide is now the second most common cause of death among college students, and college students have suffered from worsening mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic (Turner, Leno, and Keller 2020). Sixty-three percent of students reported that their emotional health is worse than before the pandemic (Jed Foundation 2020), and in June of 2020, 25 percent of 18-to-24-year-olds contemplated suicide, according to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (Czeisler et al. 2020).

College campus police carry much of the same history as non-campus police forces, and there have been several instances of violence against students experiencing mental health crises at colleges across the US (Weissman 2020). In light of these problems, colleges such as Stanford have begun shifting the responsibility of responding to students in crisis away from campus police. In recent decades, other communities have also established programs to better respond to mental health crises. These include co-responder programs, in which medical and social work professionals rather than police respond to crises. It follows that college campuses, which have police forces that often operate independently from the local police department, should take similar steps to better serve students.

THE POLICY IDEA

George Mason University should establish a Mobile Crisis Intervention Team (MCIT) program, similar to the CAHOOTS program in Eugene and Springfield, Oregon, to respond to mental health crises on campus. This will mean that professionals adequately trained in mental health arrive first to calls about mental health crises, and can better manage and deescalate the situation, while also limiting police contact with students suffering from mental illnesses.



POLICY ANALYSIS

Police officers across the country have expressed feeling under-equipped to respond to mental health crises. This lack of preparation, coupled with the history of violence in policing, has meant that individuals with mental health conditions are at a higher risk of being killed or incarcerated instead of being connected with mental health resources (Davis, Chelsea, and Pope 2016).

With a two-person team made up of a medical professional and a mental health crisis worker who will have extensive training in de-escalation and connections to external mental health services, the Mobile Crisis Intervention Team will be better equipped to deescalate mental health crises. The MCIT would also let individuals with mental health conditions avoid contact with police; such an approach could help prevent future fatal encounters (Ritchie 2017). Having mental health professionals arrive at the scene first will allow for on-site care and effective diversion to mental health services.

The mental health response program in Eugene and Springfield, Oregon, CAHOOTS (Crisis Assistance Helping Out on the Streets), serves as a model for how this policy could function at GMU. CAHOOTS calls are received by 911, where dispatchers identify non-violent, behavioral health situations and redirect calls to the CAHOOTS workers. Each team has two people—a medical professional (a nurse, paramedic, or EMT) and a crisis worker with substantial training and experience working in the mental health field (Butler and Sheriff 2020). To bring this system to GMU, two teams of two, each available for on-call service, would make up the initial pilot program's staff, with opportunities to expand the program and staff in the future. Additional training will also be required in order to ensure staff are equipped to respond to a wide range of scenarios involving physical and mental health, de-escalation, and coordination with local mental health providers (Beck, Reuland, and Pope 2020). Current staff from GMU's Student Health Services and Counseling and Psychological Services (CAPS) could be involved in giving these trainings.

Eugene's CAHOOTS program costs \$4.75 per resident of the city (Eugene Police Department n.d.). Scaled to GMU's population, this would be a cost of \$171,000 to serve 36,000 students. This is equivalent to only 2.14 percent of GMU PD's \$8,000,000 budget. This initiative therefore does not come with an exorbitant price tag, as it meets its per capita requirements using just a small percentage of the GMU PD's budget.

While some argue that mental health and medical professionals aren't equipped to confront potentially dangerous situations, data from the CAHOOTS program showed that police backup is rarely required—of the 24,000 CAHOOTS calls received in 2019, police backup was requested just 150 times, or less than 1 percent of calls (Butler and Sheriff 2020)—and was still available if necessary.

At GMU, some police officers have received crisis intervention training (CIT), but evidence is inconclusive as to whether this training leads to fewer arrests and fatalities like MCITs do. MCITs coupled with CIT-police training will increase the likelihood of people experiencing mental health crises being referred to appropriate non-hospital mental health services instead of being incarcerated (Compton, Bakeman, and Broussard 2014), ultimately improving safety and saving money for the university.

- The chance of a person suffering from untreated mental illness being killed during an encounter with law enforcement is 16 times higher than for others approached by police (Fuller et al. 2015).
- Individuals undergoing a mental health crisis have a higher chance of being confronted by law enforcement than receiving appropriate medical care (National Alliance on Mental Illness).
- People of color are less likely to be identified as having a mental health problem and are less likely to receive adequate treatment once incarcerated (Office of the Surgeon General 2001).
- Black men showing signs of mental illness are also more likely to be shot and killed by police than white men exhibiting similar behaviors (Thomas, Johnson, and Jewel 2020).
- Of the 24,000 CAHOOTS calls received in 2019, police backup was requested only 150 times—less than 1 percent (0.625 percent) (Butler and Sheriff 2020).



Empowering Individuals in the Foster System: Increasing Opportunity Through an Alternative Form of Identification

By Uzair Alpial, Monish Sharma, and Vishal Narla Roosevelt @ University of Texas at Dallas

THESIS

Individuals recently released from the state foster care system often lack necessary documents to reintegrate into society. To fix this, Texas should create and issue an alternative form of identification for individuals aging out of the foster system.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Alumni of the foster care system are in great need of government assistance: The National Institutes of Health (NIH) estimates that over 20.1 percent of individuals aging out of state custody face immediate poverty (Pac et al. 2017). Moreover, the rate of foster homelessnsess within 18 months of emancipation from the foster system has worsened from 18 percent in 1995 to 45 percent in recent years (O'Neale n.d.). Since 1992, unemployment after leaving the foster system has increased by 15 percent (DOL 2020). In fact, within four years of aging out of the system, the annual income of foster alumni is only \$7,500, and over 53 percent have no earnings (iFoster 2020).

Foster alumni require targeted aid, which the Texas government does administer. However, a majority of people aging out of the foster system cannot access these welfare interests. For instance, state law declares that foster alumni should get employment prioritization for jobs, yet 60 percent of them are unemployed (ASPE 2008). Likewise, while current regulations outline free Medicaid and unburdened college grants for them until the age of 26, a third of foster alumni are still uninsured and more than 80 percent never earn a university degree (Wiltz 2017). This is an issue that disproportionately affects minority communities, as 56 percent of foster youths are people of color (Annie E. Casey Foundation n.d.).

To alleviate these difficulties, Chapters 54 and 672 of the Texas Government Code outline the issuance of foster-specific aid (Texas Legislature n.d.a; Texas Legislature n.d.b.). The Texas Department of Family and Protective Services (DFPS) protocols stipulate that these forms of aid can only be accessed upon one's request, but in order for foster alumni to access any government aid or specific aid programs, they must present proof of having been a part of the foster system (DFPS n.d.). Additionally, once an individual presents proof of having been in the foster system, that issuance of proof can only be used to apply for one aid program. Individuals must get a separate document from the DFPS every time they wish to apply to a different aid program.

However, many foster alumni are unaware of this process and do not know how to receive a document that proves they have been in foster care. Moreover, the system is not required to automatically issue proof of identification to people who have been in foster care when they turn 18 (DFPS n.d.). Mary Christine-Reed, Director of the Texas Foster Youth Justice Project (TFYJP), estimates that over 50 percent of foster children are unaware that such a statute to help them obtain aid even exists (TFYJP 2021). Over 1,200 people age out of the state DFPS annually (Murphy 2020), meaning that there are a large number of people who could be helped by easier access to aid.

THE POLICY IDEA

Current Texas DFPS conventions should be amended so that it is compulsory for the agency to issue a general form of identification to all foster children once they turn 18. This document should be a verified certificate that specifies an individual's identity, birthdate, and citizenship. The Texas state legislature, in turn, should move to modify Chapters 54 and 672 of the state code so that this accreditation is recognized as an acceptable form of evidence for foster alumni to access government benefits.



POLICY ANALYSIS

Effective access to government aid would ease many of the challenges faced by foster youth. The TFYJP, which is the foremost foster rights advocacy group in Texas, explained in a phone conversation that current government resources are supposed to minimize poverty rates and socioeconomic disparities among alumni of the foster system. But the director of the program says that the lack of awareness about the details of assistance programs and information about their accessibility makes it difficult for foster youth to receive the aid that they need (TFYJP 2021). Therefore, while mechanisms are in place to assist foster children, they are not attainable enough to be effective: Foster alumni cannot easily benefit from foster-specific aid because they are not properly educated on its presence and the aid itself can only be accessed through a complicated process.

This policy would provide a mechanism through which to help foster alumni have easier access to government aid. While opponents of the proposal might say that it could present monetary burdens for the DFPS or that it might not be feasible, these concerns are unsubstantiated; the information required for a "foster identity certificate" is already present in the agency's IMPACT database, which can be easily utilized by the system (DFPS n.d.). Therefore, the policy change requires an organizational overhaul rather than increased funds.

Efforts in California show similar conclusions about the necessity of making foster aid more accessible. In 2019, the California House of Representatives proposed SB-912, which highlighted the need to simplify and ease the process for foster alumni to access designated aid (California Legislature 2020b). In 2020, SB-100 was sent to the state Senate and aims to improve education of foster youth regarding the aid programs which are designed for them (California Legislature 2020a). Each of these will be voted on for approval in the coming year, and both fall in line with data indicating that an increased provision of services to foster youth greatly improves their chances of success in the areas of education, housing, employment, and parenthood (Rosenberg 2019).

Automatic provision of identification that can be used to access existing government aid will create a simpler and more straightforward mechanism to help prepare individuals aging out of the system for their future. Increasing access to aid will lead to improvements in the long-term success of people aging out of the foster system—such as increased attainment of higher education, percentages of employment, and rates of housing—and will work towards greatly improving their standard of living for Texas foster alumni.

- Seventy percent of children in foster care exhibit moderate to severe mental health problems, meaning that access to government programs such as Medicaid are imperative for their success after the foster care system (Healio 2016).
- Twenty percent of foster youths will be homeless on the day that they are emancipated from the system (Sorrell 2017).
- It is estimated that nationally, anywhere from 45—65 percent of foster children are never adopted and thus age out of the system without any support structure, increasing their reliance on public benefits (O'Neale n.d.).

Expanding Ballot Access in Massachusetts through Permanent Implementation of Vote-by-Mail and All-Mail Elections

By Richard Li
Roosevelt @ Northeastern University

THESIS

To reduce voting disparities for historically underrepresented communities—racial minorities, younger voters, those experiencing poverty, and those who lack access to education—the Massachusetts state legislature and executive branch should implement permanent vote-by-mail (VBM) options for elections. They should also go a step further and administer all-mail voting for future elections, which would mean that the state would automatically mail ballots to all voters and conduct elections mostly—although not necessarily entirely—through VBM.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Despite the 1870 passage of the Fifteenth Amendment—which prohibited the federal government and states from denying individuals the right to vote based on race—states continued to enact poll taxes, implement literacy tests, intimidate would-be voters, and practice other racially discriminatory voter-suppression maneuvers in the following decades. These voter suppression tactics have particularly harmed Black Americans (Library of Congress n.d.). In 1965, Congress reacted by passing the landmark Voting Rights Act (VRA), creating new provisions for how to regulate elections, and—more importantly—reinforced the voting rights guaranteed by the Fifteenth Amendment (Amar-Dolan 2014). Among the key additions was Section 5, which required certain jurisdictions with discriminatory histories to submit proposed election changes to the US Department of Justice or to district courts in Washington, DC before they could go into effect. However, the Supreme Court's 2013 decision in *Shelby County v. Holder* ruled that Section 4(b) of the VRA, which determined the jurisdictions covered by Section 5, was unconstitutional. Without a coverage formula to enact Section 5, the ruling blunted many of the VRA's intentions and accelerated the legal development of modern voter suppression tactics (Brennan Center for Justice 2018). Strict registration restrictions, photo ID laws, voter purges, felony disenfranchisement, and gerrymandering still prevent Black individuals and other individuals of color from participating in the electoral process (ACLU 2020).

Various historical analyses, including a 2014 report from the Center for American Progress, have concluded that disadvantaged communities continue to suffer from a stark disparity in ballot access compared to more privileged ones due to the voter suppression tactics previously mentioned (Fulwood 2014). Similar low voter turnout trends have been observed nationwide for young voters and voters of lower socioeconomic status (US Census Bureau n.d.).

Before 2020, the only allowed form of VBM in Massachusetts was excuse-approved absentee ballots (Office of William Francis Galvin n.d.). However, in July 2020, because of the COVID-19 pandemic, the State House passed Bill H. 4820, temporarily allowing all voters to apply for mail-in ballots without excuse (The 192nd General Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts n.d.).

This experiment demonstrated the effectiveness of a strong VBM program (Stout 2021): According to Secretary of State William Galvin's office, Massachusetts experienced higher voter turnout across the board in 2020, in nearly every demographic, largely facilitated by the new VBM method (Fox 2020). However, H. 4820 expired on March 31, 2021, and the return to pre-2020 restrictions presents a major voting rights issue and risks undoing the significant progress made toward increased democratic access.

THE POLICY IDEA

Voting determines who holds elected office and thus who controls policy agendas. Wider ballot access for voters of color, younger voters, those experiencing poverty, and those who lack access to education will allow these populations to have more say in the areas of policy that impact their lives and well-being, providing lasting influence on health care, education, criminal justice, and more. The Massachusetts state legislature, Governor Baker, and Secretary Galvin therefore have a responsibility to their constituents to pass legislation certifying VBM as a permanent method of voting and move toward all-mail elections.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Many nonvoters are often young, less affluent, less educated, or members of minority groups (Pew Research Center 2014). These realities make sense; those who are poorer, for example, must often prioritize economic obligations over civic ones, and those who lack access to education may be less politically informed (Fulwood 2014). All-mail elections encourage civic engagement among a wide range of constituents, including college-age students and working single parents, who normally face barriers to voting such as time or transportation (Richman and Pate 2010). All-mail voting also allows disadvantaged communities such as those of color to avoid voter suppression tactics by bypassing the election day polls entirely. As a whole, all-mail elections provide greater flexibility and freedom to these voters because they have power over when and where they vote (Chotiner 2020). Through greater access to voting, marginalized populations become able to wield greater influence over the policy agenda to change their political, economic, and social circumstances and improve quality of life.

Claims that VBM, all-mail elections, or other forms of convenience voting have partisan implications (Alvarez, Levin, and Sinclair 2012) or promote ballot fraud are unfounded. A 2020 Stanford study (conducted before the November general election) concluded that VBM does not affect either major party's turnout or vote share, and instead increases turnout rates for both (Thompson et al. 2020). Additionally, the Heritage Foundation's voter fraud database calculated that over the previous 20 years, the potential voter fraud rate in US elections was just 0.00006 percent (McReynolds and Stewart III 2020). Many other organizations and studies have also found the probability of fraud during elections in the past decade to be statistically insignificant (Brennan Center for Justice 2017). Concerns about 2020 ballot fraud continue to be unfounded after the election; former US Attorneys General William Barr (Balsamo 2020) and Jeffrey Rosen (Benner 2021) have stated that the Justice Department found and received no evidence that voter fraud affected the electoral outcome.

California, Nebraska, and New Jersey—three of the many states that mailed ballots to all voters for the first time in 2020—provide examples of how all-mail elections improve voter turnout among marginalized demographics. All three states noted their highest turnouts in decades—California since 1952 (CA Sec of State n.d.), Nebraska since 1968 (Ruggles 2020), and New Jersey in recorded history (Wildstein 2021). This is not a 2020-specific phenomenon; Washington state, which passed VBM as a permanent voting option in 2005, and completed the transition to all-mail elections in 2011, recorded 51 percent turnout in the four midterm elections between 2006 and 2018—up from 45 percent during the four midterm elections before 2006. According to a review by McClatchy, this upward turnout trend was consistent among Washington's voters of color, who voted more often in 2020 than they did 15 years before, at the time most counties made the switch to all-mail elections (Sailor and Reese 2020).

In addition to expanding access to voting, all-mail elections also offer administrative benefits, as the reduced need to recruit, train, and organize poll workers leads to more time and resource flexibility (Hernandez 2014). In fact, Oregon (Montjoy 2010), Washington, and Colorado (Pew Charitable Trusts 2016)—the first three states to allow universal all-mail voting—have consistently enjoyed 30—50 percent lower administrative costs since switching (Trenchard 2011).

On March 16, 2021, Vermont—one of the states that switched to all-mail voting during the 2020 election—passed a bill to adopt universal mail voting permanently for future election cycles. It is the first state since the election to embrace the move toward all-mail elections. Officials in Massachusetts are also interested in this move; Secretary Galvin vouched for the permanent implementation of VBM because "it allows the voting to be done at the convenience of the voter, it extends to voters more time, [and] more reason. It will, in effect, add people to the discussion, which is a very important thing" (Brooks 2021). If Massachusetts were to go even further and adopt all-mail elections, it would join Vermont in providing more states with another model to follow.

- In the 2016 general election, there was a 9.8 percent lower turnout among voters of color than the national average turnout of 60.2 percent. There was also a 16.8 percent lower turnout among voters ages 18—29, and a 20.4 percent lower turnout of voters without a college degree (United States Election Project n.d.).
- Despite a 74.7 percent overall voter turnout in Massachusetts for the 2016 general election, turnout among voters of color—who account for 17.8 percent of the eligible voter population—was only 63.3 percent while their vote share was only 12.7 percent (Mass Voter Table 2018).
- In 2020, 70 percent of Americans, 79 percent of Black voters, 79 percent of Hispanic voters, and 80 percent of voters ages 18—29 supported allowing any voter to vote by mail if they wanted to (Pew Research Center 2020).
- Ten states and Washington, DC observed mostly or all VBM elections in 2020. Those eleven regions enjoyed an average turnout increase of 9.2 percent from 2016 versus an average 5.9 percent increase across the other 40 states (DeSilver 2021).
- Between the 2020 general election and February 2021, 11 states have introduced a total of 27 bills that would legalize VBM for all voters in all future elections (Brennan Center for Justice 2021).

Improving Health in South Los Angeles by Reducing Local Oil Development

By Pratik Thakur

Roosevelt @ University of Southern California

THESIS

South Los Angeles residents face health complications from air pollutants emitted by local oil wells. To reduce health risks, the LA County Public Health Department should fund low-cost air quality sensors to detect pollution rates and prohibit oil development when pollutants reach levels above what the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) recommends.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

There have been oil fields in Los Angeles for over 100 years (Shamasunder 2018a). Although the oil industry's prominence in the city has declined, LA still ranks in the nation's top 10 most polluted cities, and 580,000 Los Angelenos, around 5.7 percent of the county's population, still live less than a quarter of a mile away from an active oil well (STAND-L.A. n.d.a; United States Census Bureau n.d.). Overall, the City of Los Angeles, home to over 4 million people, still has around 850 active oil and gas wells, and the larger Los Angeles County (with a population of 10 million) has approximately 4750 wells (Shamasunder et al. 2018b). Around 70 percent of active oil wells in the city are within 1500 feet of community areas like homes, urban parks, and schools (Shamasunder et al. 2018b). Residents in these areas suffer dangers due to poor air quality from their proximity to oil wells; for example, wells emit toxic chemicals such as benzene and n-hexane, which are carcinogenic and pose other health risks (Garcia-Gonzales, Shamasunder, and Jerrett 2019). Moreover, other chemicals from wells, such as methane, damage the local air quality and lead to a higher prevalence of respiratory problems like asthma (Shamasunder et al. 2018b).

These dangers are unevenly distributed—many oil fields in South LA are built in socioeconomically disadvantaged areas. For example, the AllenCo oil well site is located in the University Park neighborhood, where around 76 percent of residents are Latinx and 72 percent are 200 percent below the poverty line (Shamasunder et al. 2018b). The University Park neighborhood and West Adams neighborhood, where the Jefferson oil well is located, are classified by the California government mapping tool CalEnviroscreen as "environmental justice" communities—that is, in the top 25 percent of most environmentally burdened census tracts statewide. There is also evidence of health problems in these neighborhoods linked to oil production. In 2013, University Park residents reported headaches, respiratory issues, and nosebleeds, corresponding to a 400 percent increase in oil production at the AllenCo field that year (Shamasunder et al. 2018b).

In order to combat the risks of these pollutants, community members and officials have tried to reduce the number of oil wells. For instance, the city forced the Jefferson oil field, which was within 1000 feet of residences, a church, and an elementary school, to terminate and clean up its operations in 2019 (Shamasunder et al. 2020; STAND-L.A. n.d.b). Still, such initiatives are difficult to execute due to opposition from oil companies like Freeport McMoRan, which have a stake in oil fields in the South LA area (yet do not even have extensive tracking systems for oil-related activity) (STAND-L.A. n.d.a). Furthermore, air monitoring can be expensive, making it difficult for communities to access necessary data for these efforts (Shamasunder et al. 2018b). The lack of specific data and monitoring of oil well air pollution makes it more difficult for municipalities and organizations to demonstrate the associated dangers and work to limit their production. However, the dangers of air pollutants to the health of local populations mean that it is crucial to create and enforce limitations on oil development (American Lung Association 2020).

THE POLICY IDEA

The County of Los Angeles Public Health Department should fund and install low-cost air pollution sensors in South Los Angeles to track how oil development in the area increases the rate of air pollutants emitted into the environment. This new sensor program will help South Los Angeles' underserved populations, as greater data collection will bring more awareness, evidence, and support for the government to limit and/or forbid oil development once air pollutants reach levels determined by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to be dangerous and unhealthy.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Employing sensors will standardize the detection of air pollutants and chemicals (such as benzene and n-hexane) from oil wells. These oil pollution rates can then be added to the California Department of Conservation's online well-finder, which maintains a list of state oil wells (California Department of Conservation n.d.). With more detailed, real-time information about oil well pollutants, organizations like STAND-LA, a Los Angeles community group that organizes against local neighborhood drilling, can present a stronger case to local officials to remove oil fields and improve community health.

These sensors, usually known as U-Pods or Y-Pods, are small, easy to employ, and not very expensive—they can cost as little as \$500. On the other hand, air pollution has cost California \$28 billion annually (Collier-Oxandale et al. 2020; California State University, Fullerton 2008), in part due to worse community health and premature deaths, which have a negative impact on the potential economic output that these individuals could have contributed if they were healthy and productive (California State University, Fullerton 2008). Additionally, health care expenditures such as the costs from emergency room and hospital visits due to air pollution in California have amounted to over \$193 million in the two-year period from 2005—2007 (Romley, Hackbarth, and Goldman 2010). Consequently, in addition to having a positive impact on community health, efforts to limit air pollution will also decrease health care costs and financially benefit the economy.

Increased data collection has already proven to be successful at decreasing harmful oil production: As mentioned previously, in 2019, researchers and local residents in the West Adams area set up sensors to collect data about air pollutants from the Jefferson oil well site (Shamasunder et al. 2020). Eventually, this data provided enough evidence to highlight the field's dangers, leading city officials to close down the site (Shamasunder et al. 2020). However, these kinds of bans are not common. This example was made possible through a substantial community-led initiative, aided by extra data collection and recording. A more comprehensive system to detect unsafe levels of harmful oil air pollutants would therefore help future similar community-led initiatives. Eventually, these kinds of pollutant detection systems can be extended to both city and state-wide initiatives to close down oil fields, since there is already a list of all the oil wells in California that could be made more robust through the inclusion of pollution rates.

Stakeholders in the oil industry, such as Freeport McMoRan which has had previous controversies with its business in South LA, may also argue that shutting down wells will hurt the economy (Reyes 2015). However, California plans to transition away from the use of fossil fuels, for example by only allowing the sale of zero-emission passenger vehicles by 2035 (Office of Governor Newsom 2020). Limiting and closing oil development in LA will therefore go along with the substantive policies being made toward a greener economy in the state.

- Around 580,000 Los Angeles County residents—5.7 percent of the total population—live less than a quarter of a mile away from an active oil well (STAND-L.A. n.d.a; United States Census Bureau n.d.).
- Oil development within South Los Angeles endangers the health of residents because it emits toxic and carcinogenic pollutants and further contributes to socioeconomic hardships faced by the primarily low-income and minority populations who live near oil wells (Shamasunder et al. 2018; Garcia-Gonzales, Shamasunder, and Jerrett 2019).
- Developing a comprehensive method to track oil field sites and their pollution rates will provide valuable evidence to disrupt the continuation of oil development in the South Los Angeles area (Shamasunder et al. 2020).



Ending Parking Minimums in Boston to Improve Livability

By Rachael Burstein

Roosevelt @ Northeastern University

THESIS

The city of Boston requires that developers provide a large number of parking spaces with new developments—often more than necessary—which wastes valuable space, reduces housing affordability, encourages car ownership, and perpetuates the climate crisis. As such, Boston should end parking minimums to preserve space for more sustainable uses.

BACKGROUND ANALYSIS

Parking minimums are laws imposed by municipalities that require developers to include a certain number of off-street parking spaces for residential and commercial developments. Municipalities began implementing parking minimums in the 1920s to prevent businesses from competing with nearby residents for on-street parking; this move also required housing developments to provide parking for their residents, and gave businesses ample parking for their customers (Mancini Nichols 2019). Although many business owners and renters tout the importance of large parking lots, over 30 percent of parking lots sit empty in the Boston inner-core subregion, even during peak hours when they should be at their fullest (MAPC 2019). Evidence also shows that parking spaces have many negative impacts: They increase car dependence, worsen climate change impacts, and make cities less livable.

Having large numbers of parking lots encourages car use, which leads to increased congestion, air and noise pollution, and environmental justice issues (A Better City 2016). For example, communities of color disproportionately face negative impacts from higher levels of car usage, like poorer air quality caused by diesel fumes. On average, air breathed by Asian American, African American, and Latinx residents in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic regions of the US is 66 percent more polluted than that breathed by their white counterparts, causing more health issues among these populations (Moura and Reichmuth 2019). Furthermore, excess paved surfaces worsen the urban heat island effect, raising the temperature in cities (Shyduroff 2019). Certain groups, like outdoor workers, the elderly, and low-income populations are especially vulnerable to extreme heat due to unequal exposure to high temperatures, health issues, and less access to heat mitigation infrastructure (CDC 2017). Higher numbers of cars also leads to more carbon emissions, and all residents will suffer if the city fails to mitigate climate change impacts.

Moreover, parking spaces are expensive to construct and maintain, priced at around \$21,000 per structure parking space (not including additional maintenance). Developers often offset this cost by raising rents (A Better City 2016), which especially hurts those who are less likely to own cars—specifically individuals with lower incomes, the elderly and young adults, or people with disabilities—as their rents increase to pay for others' car use (Chan et al. 2016).

THE POLICY IDEA

Given the negative effects and lack of utility of parking minimums, Boston should end parking minimums for new developments. The existing policy adversely impacts renters and developers, as well as urban livability and the environment. With less space taken up by parking lots and garages, Boston can dedicate more space to public goods like bike lanes and green space, or new housing and businesses. If Boston ends its parking minimums, it would become the second city in the United States to do so, acting as a trailblazer and likely inspiring other municipalities to follow suit.

POLICY ANALYSIS

Many city and transportation planners now understand that parking supply is a self-reinforcing problem: the more parking spaces supplied by the city, the more residents and businesses demand. Increased parking availability sways car users to take advantage of such spaces, whether for overnight parking at their place of residence or at the businesses they frequent (MAPC 2019). The availability of parking spaces therefore discourages people from biking, walking, or taking public transit. Unfortunately, this trend is worsening in Boston. From 2009 to 2014, car ownership in the city increased from an average of .77 vehicles per household to .92 (MA RMV N.d.). Furthermore, construction of parking lots and garages far outpaces the actual need—as mentioned earlier, more than 30 percent of Boston's parking spaces are vacant during peak hours (MAPC 2019). With a parking supply better fit to demand, this land could instead be used for new parks, bike lanes, or additional housing units.

Reining in Boston's parking supply will also mitigate climate change impacts and improve affordability by reducing car use and the harmful impacts that come with it. (MassDOT 2019). There are many positive externalities to people becoming less dependent on their cars: air is cleaner, neighborhoods are quieter, and more space is made available for other kinds of development; in other words, cities become much more pleasant places to live. With fewer empty parking lots, Boston can provide more parks, sidewalks, and bike lanes, which all contribute to urban livability and promote sustainability.

Businesses may oppose ending parking minimums for fear that fewer customers will visit their establishments. However, a study by the New York City Department of Transportation (DOT) used case studies across New York City to measure how improvements to street environments can impact business by comparing sales tax receipts before and after project implementation. The study concluded that businesses typically overestimate how many customers drive to their establishments. Furthermore, customers arriving on bike or foot actually make more frequent trips to such businesses, and purchase less per trip but more overall compared to drivers. A more comfortable pedestrian environment is good for business, as it increases foot traffic and retail activity (NYC DOT 2013).

- Parking lots are underutilized in the Boston inner-core subregion, with about 30 percent of spaces sitting empty during peak hours (MAPC 2019).
- Parking lots incentivize car use and therefore contribute to the ongoing climate crisis as well as to pollution, congestion, and the urban heat island effect.
- The construction of parking lots and garages is very expensive—about \$21,000 per structure parking space—which prolongs project completion and ultimately drives up rent for residents (A Better City 2016).
- Empty parking lots waste valuable space that the city could otherwise designate for more productive uses, such as bike lanes, sidewalks, and green spaces.
- The provision of parking spaces is self-reinforcing: the more parking supply is provided by the city, the more residents and businesses want. Therefore, if Boston doesn't stop providing parking where it's not needed, empty parking spaces and their externalities will continue to burden communities.

References

CHANGING UNIVERSITY HIRING PROCESSES TO PROTECT STUDENTS FROM SEXUAL HARASSMENT

- American Association of University Women (AAUW). n.d. "An Underreported Problem: Campus Sexual Misconduct." Accessed March 24, 2021. https://www.aauw.org/resources/article/underreported-sexual-misconduct/.
- Binghamton University: State University of New York. n.d. "Faculty / Staff Handbook" Office of the Provost. Accessed February 16, 2021. https://www.binghamton.edu/academics/provost/faculty-staff-handbook/index.html.
- Brown, Sarah, and Katherine Mangan. 2019 "Pass the Harasser' Is Higher Ed's Worst-Kept Secret. How Can Colleges Stop Doing It?" *Chronicle of Higher Education*, June 27, 2019. https://www.chronicle.com/article/pass-the-harasser-is-higher-eds-worst-kept-secret-how-can-colleges-stop-doing-it/.
- Chi Cantalupo, Nancy, and William Kidder. 2018. "A Systematic Look at a Serial Problem: Sexual Harassment of Students by University Faculty." *Utah Law Review* 2018, no. 4 (June): 671–786. https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2971447.
- Flaherty, Colleen. 2017. "Worse Than It Seems." *Inside Higher Ed*, July 18, 2017. https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2017/07/18/study-finds-large-share-cases-involving-faculty-harassment-graduate-students-are.
- Lazard, Lisa. 2017. "Here's the Truth about False Accusations of Sexual Violence." *The Conversation*, November 24, 2017. http://www.open.ac.uk/research/news/false-accusations-sexual-violence.
- Rosenthal, Marina N., Alec M. Smidt, and Jennifer J. Freyd. 2016. "Still Second Class: Sexual Harassment of Graduate Students." *Psychology of Women Quarterly* 40, no. 3 (May): 364–77. https://doi.org/10.1177/0361684316644838.
- Schlavensky, Neal. 2019. "Sexual Misconduct, Employment References, and Hiring in Higher Education: Is It Time for the Duty or Care to Evolve?" Wisconsin Law Review Forward 2019: 1—15. https://heinonline.org/HOL/Page?collection=journals&handle=hein.journals/wlron2019&id=14&men_tab=srchresults.
- UC Davis. n.d. "Reference Checks." Academic Affairs. Last updated August 17, 2020. https://academicaffairs.ucdavis.edu/reference-checks.
- University of Wisconsin (UW). 2018. "UW System Board of Regents Resolution 11038: Employee Personnel Files and Reference Checks." Accessed March 25, 2021. https://www.wisconsin.edu/ohrwd/admin/download/Board-of-Regents-Resolution-11038.pdf.
- Wilson, Robin. 2014. "Why Colleges Are on the Hook for Sexual Assault." *The Chronicle of Higher Education*. June 6, 2014. https://www.chronicle.com/article/why-colleges-are-on-the-hook-for-sexual-assault/?cid2=gen_login_refresh&cid=gen_sign_in.

TOWARD RESTORATIVE JUSTICE IN MISSOURI SCHOOLS: CRAFTING MORE SPECIFIC SCHOOL SUSPENSION GUIDELINES

- Baker, Sarah. 2018. *Missouri's Pipeline of Injustice From School to Prison*. Kansas City, MO: American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU) of Missouri. https://www.aclu-mo.org/sites/default/files/stpp_report_new_brand_with_update_oct_2018_as_pages_with_blanks.pdf.
- Delaney, Ryan, and Elle Moxley. 2019. "English Learners Make Gains; Achievement Gap Persists for Missouri's Black Students." *St. Louis Public Radio*, October 21, 2019. https://www.kcur.org/2019-10-21/english-learners-make-gains-achievement-gap-persists-for-missouris-black-students.



- Gregory, Anne, and Katherine R. Evans. 2020. *The Starts and Stumbles of Restorative Justice in Education: Where Do We Go From Here?* Boulder, CO: National Education Policy Center. https://nepc.colorado.edu/sites/default/files/publications/Revised%20PB%20Gregory_0.pdf.
- Groeger, Lena V., Annie Waldman, and David Eads. 2018. "Miseducation: Is There Racial Inequality at Your School?" *ProPublica*, October 16, 2018. https://projects.propublica.org/miseducation/.
- Losen, Daniel J., and Amir Whitaker. 2018. 11 Million Days Lost: Race, Discipline, and Safety at US Public Schools. New York: American Civil Liberties Union. https://www.aclu.org/sites/default/files/field_document/final_11-million-days_ucla_aclu.pdf.
- Morris, Edward W., and Brea L. Perry. 2016. "The Punishment Gap: School Suspension and Racial Disparities in Achievement." *Social Problems* 63, no. 1 (February): 68—86. https://www.jstor.org/stable/44014895?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents.
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). 2020. *The Condition of Education 2020: Public High School Graduation Rates*. Washington, DC: NCES. https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/pdf/coe_coi.pdf.
- Payne, Allison A., and Kelly Welch. 2013. "Restorative Justice in Schools: The Influence of Race on Restorative Discipline." *Youth & Society* 47, no. 4: 539—564. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.1177/0044118X12473125?casa_token=Rvi1UvxT5_wAAAAA:J9imIvabe4gYgsjaeO6
- Schiff, Mara. 2013. "Dignity, Disparity and Desistance: Effective Restorative Justice Strategies to Plug the 'School-to-Prison Pipeline." UCLA: The Civil Rights Project. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/6kw7w8s8.

PBrbHzXHbUhoBDEPNhOrRT2Hyk4Gox2VEr-PApVq9jfUmhLamfwMTDr0IEA.

- US Department of Education (DOE). 2020. *Missouri Compilation of School Discipline Laws and Regulations*. Washington, DC: DOE. https://safesupportivelearning.ed.gov/sites/default/files/discipline-compendium/Missouri%20School%20 Discipline%20Laws%20and%20Regulations.pdf.
- Woolard, Amy, Mario Salas, and Rachael Deane. 2018. Suspended Progress 2018: An Update on the State of Exclusionary Discipline & Alternative Education in Virginia's Public Schools. Charlottesville, VA: Legal and Justice Center. https://www.justice4all.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/FullSuspendedProgress2018.pdf.

EXPANDING DIGITAL EQUITY FROM SEATTLE TO ALL OF KING COUNTY

- City of Seattle. 2019. "Digital Equity Progress Report". Seattle Information Technology. Updated November 20, 2019. http://www.seattle.gov/tech/initiatives/digital-equity-progress-report.
- City of Seattle. n.d. "Technology Matching Fund." Seattle Information Technology. Last Accessed April 16, 2021. http://www.seattle.gov/tech/initiatives/digital-equity/technology-matching-fund.
- City of Seattle Digital Equity Initiative. 2016. *Digital Equity Initial Action Plan Phase 2: From Vision to Action*. City of Seattle. http://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/Tech/DigitalEquity_PhaseII.pdf.
- Funk, Cary, and Kim Parker. Blacks in STEM Jobs Are Especially Concerned about Diversity and Discrimination in the Workplace. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/social-trends/2018/01/09/blacks-in-stem-jobs-are-especially-concerned-about-diversity-and-discrimination-in-the-workplace/.
- Liu, Jennifer. 2019. "The US Has Nearly 1 Million Open IT Jobs—Here's How Much It Can Pay off to Switch Industries into Tech." *CNBC*, November 6, 2019, sec. Work. https://www.cnbc.com/2019/11/06/how-switching-careers-to-tech-could-solve-the-us-talent-shortage.html.





- King County Council. n.d. "Search the Legislative Archive, 1969—Present." Updated February 5, 2019. https://kingcounty.gov/council/clerk/search_archive.aspx#:~:text=Under%20the%20Charter%2C%20the%20Council,have%20the%20force%20of%20law.
- Mracek, Karen. 2018. "What is the Impact of the Digital Divide?" *Open Vault Blog* (blog). Federal Reserve Bank of St. Louis. November 7, 2018. https://www.stlouisfed.org/open-vault/2018/november/impact-of-digital-divide#:~:text=%20What%20 Is%20the%20Impact%20of%20the%20Digital.particularly%20true%20in%20areas%20where%20a...%20More%20.
- Office of the Mayor: Mayor Edward B. Murray. "City of Seattle Launches Digital Equity Initiative Action Plan." News release, March 30, 2016. https://murray.seattle.gov/city-of-seattle-launches-digital-equity-initiative-action-plan/.
- Public Health Seattle and King County. 2020. *Computer and Internet Access in King County*. King County, WA: Public Health Seattle and King County. https://kingcounty.gov/depts/health/covid-19/data/~/media/depts/health/communicable-diseases/documents/C19/impacts-web-access.ashx.
- Seattle IT. 2018. *Digital Equity in Seattle 2018 Annual Report Summary*. Seattle: Seattle IT. http://www.seattle.gov/Documents/Departments/Tech/DigitalEquity/2018%20Digital%20Equity%20Report%20Summary%202-pager.pdf.
- Schlosser, Kurt. 2021. "Seattle's Technology Matching Fund Awards \$343k to 15 Nonprofits Helping to Bridge Digital Divide." *GeekWire*, April 2, 2021. https://www.geekwire.com/2021/seattles-technology-matching-fund-awards-343k-15-nonprofits-helping-bridge-digital-divide/.
- Steele, Carmen. 2019. "What Is the Digital Divide?" Digital Divide Council, February 22, 2019. http://www.digitaldividecouncil.com/what-is-the-digital-divide/#:~:text=Causes%20of%20the%20Digital%20Divide%201%20Education.%20Education.
- US Bureau of Labor Statistics. 2019. "Workers who could work at home, did work at home, and were paid for work at home, by selected characteristics, averages for the period 2017-2018" bls.gov. Last updated September 24, 2019. https://www.bls.gov/news.release/flex2.t01.htm.
- United States Census Bureau. n.d. "QuickFacts: Washington." Accessed May 16, 2021. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/WA/COM100219#COM100219.
- US Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC). n.d. *Diversity in High Tech*. Washington, DC: EEOC. https://www.eeoc.gov/special-report/diversity-high-tech.

INCREASING KNOWLEDGE AND CONSUMPTION OF FOLIC ACID FOR HISPANIC WOMEN IN DALLAS

- Arth, Annelise C., Sarah C. Tinker, Regina M. Simeone, Elizabeth C. Ailes, Janet D. Cragan, and Scott D. Grosse. 2017. "Inpatient Hospitalization Costs Associated with Birth Defects Among Persons of All Ages—United States, 2013." CDC Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report, January 20, 2017. https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6602a1.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2018. "Current Folic Acid Research." Folic Acid Research. Last reviewed April 11, 2018. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/folicacid/research.html.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). 2019. "Folic Acid Helps Prevent Neural Tube Defects." Folic Acid Data & Statistics. Last reviewed August 12, 2019. https://www.cdc.gov/ncbddd/folicacid/data.html.
- Ely, Danielle M., and Anne K. Driskoll. 2017. "Infant Mortality in the United States, 2017: Data From the Period Linked Birth/Infant Death." *National Vital Statistics Report* 68, no. 10 (August): 16. https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nvsr/nvsr68/ nvsr68_10-508.pdf.



- Flores, Alina L., Jennifer Isenburg, Christina L. Hillard, Leslie deRosset, Lisa Colen, Troy Bush, and Cara T. Mai. 2017. "Folic Acid Education for Hispanic Women: The Promotora de Salud Model." *Journal of Women's Health* 26, no. 2 (February): 186—94. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2016.6116.
- GoodRx. n.d. "What Is Folate Deficiency?." Folate Deficiency. Accessed May 26, 2021. https://www.goodrx.com/folate-deficiency.
- Harley, Kim, Brenda Eskenazi, and Gladys Block. 2005. "The Association of Time in the US and Diet during Pregnancy in Low-Income Women of Mexican Descent." *Paediatric and Perinatal Epidemiology* 19, no. 2 (March): 125—34. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2005.00640.x.
- Kaiser Family Foundation (KFF). n.d. "Uninsured Rates for the Nonelderly by Race/Ethnicity.". State Health Facts. Accessed May 27, 2021. https://www.kff.org/uninsured/state-indicator/nonelderly-uninsured-rate-by-raceethnicity/.
- Parkland Hospital. 2018. "Parkland to Host Events During Infant Mortality Awareness Month." News & Updates, August 20, 2018. https://www.parklandhospital.com/news-and-updates/parkland-to-host-events-during-infant-mortality-aw-1347.
- Preidt, Robert. 2008. "Race Plays Role in Women's Folic Acid Intake." *ABC News*, March 3, 2008. https://abcnews.go.com/Health/Healthday/story?id=4507110&page=1.
- National Center for Farmworker Health (NCFH). 2019. "The Role of Promotores in Helping Prevent Diabetes." *NCFH* (blog), August 7, 2019. http://www.ncfh.org/ncfh-blog/the-role-of-promotores-in-helping-prevent-diabetes.
- Texas Department of State Health Services. 2019. "Texas Birth Defects Registry." July 2019. https://dshs.texas.gov/birthdefects/About-the-Texas-Birth-Defects-Registry.pdf.
- United States Census Bureau. 2019. "QuickFacts: Dallas City, Texas." https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/dallascitytexas/PST045219.
- Yang, Quan-He, Heather K. Carter, Joseph Mulinare, RJ Berry, JM Friedman, and J. David Erickson. 2007. "Race-Ethnicity Differences in Folic Acid Intake in Women of Childbearing Age in the United States after Folic Acid Fortification: Findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 2001—2002." *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 85, no. 5 (May): 1409—16. https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/85.5.1409.
- Yi, Yunni, Marion Lindemann, Antje Colligs, and Claire Snowball. 2011. "Economic Burden of Neural Tube Defects and Impact of Prevention with Folic Acid: A Literature Review." *European Journal of Pediatrics* 170, no. 11 (May): 1391—1400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00431-011-1492-8.

INSTALLING PUBLIC BATHROOMS TO AID PEOPLE EXPERIENCING HOMELESSNESS IN BAKERSFIELD AND KERN COUNTY

- Alsop, Ryan J. 2019. Letter to Board of Supervisors. Kern County Administrative Office, October 29, 2019. https://itsapps.kerncounty.com/clerk/minutes/granicus/2411463/2411477/2411489/2411543/2411565/ADM%20GEN%20Low%20Barrier%20Navigation%20Center2411565.pdf.
- Bakersfield-Kern Regional Homeless Collaborative. 2021. Bakersfield-Kern Regional Homeless Collaborative 2021 PIT Count Report. Bakersfield: Bakersfield-Kern Regional Homeless Collaborative. https://bkrhc.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/BKRHC-2021-PIT-Count-Report_042821.docx.pdf.
- Beaven, Steve. 2019. "Portland's New Public Toilet Open for Business." *The Oregnonian*, March 27, 2019. https://www.oregonlive.com/news/2008/12/new_loo_is_a_big_hit_in_northw.html.



- Bernbaum, Marcia. 2019. Findings and Take-Aways for Washington DC From a Questionnaire Administered to Cities That Have Installed the Portland Loo. Washington, DC: People for Fairness Coalition (PFFC). https://pffcdc.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Portland-Loo-full-report-Oct.-2019.pdf.
- De Venanzi, Augusto. "The Institutional Dynamics of Homelessness: The United States of America and Japan Compared." *International Journal of Sociology and Social Policy* 28, no. 3—4 (2008): 129—145. https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/01443330810862197/full/html.
- KGET. 2021. "Bakersfield Council Approves Expansion for Human Waste Cleanup Program." *KGET 17*, March 19, 2021. https://www.kget.com/news/local-news/bakersfield-council-approves-expansion-for-human-waste-cleanup-program/.
- Luiz, Joseph. 2020. "City Council to Consider Approving Contract Extension for Human Waste Cleanup Services." *KGET 17*, January 7, 2020. https://www.kget.com/news/local-news/city-council-to-consider-approving-contract-extension-for-human-waste-cleanup-services/.
- Luiz, Joseph. 2021. "2021 Point-In-Time Count: More than 2,000 People Identified as Experiencing Homelessness in Kern County." *KGET 17*, April 29, 2021. https://www.kget.com/news/local-news/2021-point-in-time-count-more-than-2000-people-identified-as-experiencing-homelessness/.
- Morgen, Sam. 2019. "City and County Team up with Homeless Collaborative to Form Nonprofit Take on Rising Crisis." The Bakersfield Californian. *Bakersfield Californian*, August 23, 2019. https://www.bakersfield.com/news/city-and-county-team-up-with-homeless-collaborative-to-form-nonprofit-to-take-on-rising/article_7c678384-c540-11e9-b06b-fb95fc58ce3c.html.
- Peak, Corey M., Sarah S. Stous, Jessica M. Healy, Megan G. Hofmeister, Yulin Lin, Sumathi Ramachandran, Monique A. Foster, Annie Kao, and Eric C. McDonald. 2020. "Homelessness and Hepatitis A—San Diego County, 2016—2018." *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 71, No. 1 (July): 14—21. https://academic.oup.com/cid/article/71/1/14/5550168.
- Sommer, Marni, Caitlin Gruer, Rachel Clark Smith, Andrew Maroko, and Kim Hopper. 2020. "Menstruation and Homelessness: Challenges Faced Living in Shelters and on the Street in New York City." *Health & Place* 66, (November): 102431. https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1353829220310923?via%3Dihub.
- The Portland Loo. 2020. "The Only Loo Proven to Keep Clean and Crime-Free." Why Loo. https://portlandloo.com/why-loo/.
- The Portland Loo. 2019. "Portland Loos Around the World." The Portland Loo. June 19, 2019. https://portlandloo.com/portlandloos-around-the-world/.
- United States Census Bureau (USCB). 2020. *QuickFacts: Kern County, California*. April 1, 2020. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/kerncountycalifornia/POP010220.
- Zielinski, Alex. 2017. "In Defense of San Antonio's \$100,000 Toilet." San Antonio Current, June 15, 2017. https://www.sacurrent.com/the-daily/archives/2017/06/15/in-defense-of-san-antonios-thousand-dollar-toilet.

REDISTRIBUTING THE GEORGE MASON UNIVERSITY POLICE DEPARTMENT BUDGET TO CREATE A MOBILE CRISIS INTERVENTION TEAM

- Beck, Jackson, Melissa Reuland, and Leah Pope. 2020. *Case Study: CAHOOTS*. Brooklyn, NY: Vera Institute of Justice. https://www.vera.org/behavioral-health-crisis-alternatives/cahoots.
- Butler, Stuart, and Nehath Sheriff. 2020. *Innovative Solutions to Address the Mental Health Crisis: Shifting Away from Police as First Responders*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institute. https://www.brookings.edu/research/innovative-solutions-to-address-the-mental-health-crisis-shifting-away-from-police-as-first-responders/.





- Compton, Michael T., et al. 2014. "The Police-Based Crisis Intervention Team (CIT) Model: I. Effects on Officers' Knowledge, Attitudes, and Skills." *Psychiatric Services* 65, no. 4 (April): 517—522. https://ps.psychiatryonline.org/doi/10.1176/appi.ps.201300107.
- Czeisler, Mark É, Rashon I. Lane, Emiko Petrosky, et al. 2020. "Mental Health, Substance Use, and Suicidal Ideation During the COVID-19 Pandemic." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), August 14 2020. CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/volumes/69/wr/mm6932a1.htm?s_cid=mm6932a1_w#suggestedcitation.
- Davis, Chelsea, and Leah Pope. 2016. "Shining a Spotlight on Mental Health and Police Shootings." *Think Justice Blog* (blog). Vera Institute of Justice. July 19, 2016. https://www.vera.org/blog/shining-a-spotlight-on-mental-health-and-police-shootings.
- Eugene Police Department. n.d. "Cahoots." Eugene, OR Website. Accessed February 15, 2021. https://www.eugene-or.gov/4508/CAHOOTS.
- Fuller, Doris, H. Richard Lamb, Michael Biasotti, and John Snook. 2015. *Overlooked in the Undercounted: The Role of Mental Illness in Fatal Law Enforcement Encounters*. Arlington, VA: Treatment Advocacy Center. https://www.treatmentadvocacycenter.org/overlooked-in-the-undercounted.
- Jed Foundation. 2020. "Survey of College Student Mental Health in 2020."
- National Alliance on Mental Illness (NAMI). n.d. "Jailing People with Mental Illness." Bucks County PA: Bucks County's Voice on Mental Health. Accessed February 15, 2021. https://namibuckspa.org/about-nami-bucks-county/public-policy/jailing-people-with-mental-illness/.
- Office of the Surgeon General, Center for Mental Health Services, and National Institute of Mental Health. 2001. "Mental Health: Culture, Race, and Ethnicity: A Supplement to Mental Health: A Report of the Surgeon General." National Library of Medicine, National Center for Biotechnology Information. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/20669516/.
- Ritchie, Andrea J. 2017. Invisible No More: Police Violence Against Black Women and Women of Color. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Thomas, Marilyn D., Nicholas P. Jewell, and Amani M. Allen. 2020. "Black and Unarmed: Statistical Interaction between Age, Perceived Mental Illness, and Geographic Region among Males Fatally Shot by Police Using Case-Only Design." *Annals of Epidemiology* 53 (January)): 42—49.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2020.08.014.
- Turner, James C., E. Victor Leno, and Adrienne Keller. 2020. "Causes of Mortality Among American College Students: A Pilot Study." *Journal of College Student Psychotherapy* 27, no. 1 (January): 31—42. https://doi.org/10.1080/87568225.2013.739022.
- Weissman, Sara. 2020. "Higher Ed Institutions Reexamine Role of Police in Student Mental Health Care." *Diverse Issues in Higher Education*, October 25, 2020. https://diverseeducation.com/article/194376/.

EMPOWERING INDIVIDUALS IN THE FOSTER SYSTEM: INCREASING OPPORTUNITY THROUGH AN ALTERNATIVE FORM OF IDENTIFICATION

- Annie E. Casey Foundation. n.d. "Black Children Continue to Be Disproportionately Represented in Foster Care." Annie E. Casey Foundation Kids Count Data Center. https://datacenter.kidscount.org/updates/show/264-us-foster-care-population-by-race-and-ethnicity.
- California Legislature. 2020a. "Bill Text SB-100 Extended Foster Care Program Working Group." https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB100.
- California Legislature. 2020b. "Bill Text SB-912 California Fostering Connections to Success Act." https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billTextClient.xhtml?bill_id=201920200SB912.



- Children's Bureau: An Office of Administration for Children and Families. n.d. "What Available Supports and Resources Are in Place for Youth Transitioning from Foster Care?" Accessed January 30, 2021. https://www.acf.hhs.gov/cb/faq/foster-care7#:~:text=Educational%20and%20Training%20Vouchers%20(ETVs,%2C%20career%20school%2C%20or%20training.
- Healio. 2016. "Children in Foster Care More Likely to Have Physical, Mental Health Problems."
- Healio, October 17, 2016. https://www.healio.com/news/psychiatry/20161017/children-in-foster-care-more-likely-to-have-physical-mental-health-problems.
- iFoster. 2020. "6 Quick Statistics on the Current State of Foster Care." *iFoster* (blog). November 9, 2020. https://www.ifoster.org/6-quick-statistics-on-the-current-state-of-foster-care/.
- Murphy, Kate. 2020. "TX Tribune Highlights Youth Aging Out of Foster Care." Texans Care for Children, April 28, 2020. https://txchildren.org/posts/2020/4/28/tx-tribune-highlights-youth-aging-out-of-foster-care.
- National Foster Youth Institute (NFYI). n.d. "Housing." Accessed June 8, 2021. https://nfyi.org/issues/housing/#:~:text=Youth%20Housing%20and%20Homelessness%3A%20Facts,more%20years%20find%20permanent%20homes.
- Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation (ASPE). 2008. Coming of Age: Employment Outcomes for Youth Who Age Out of Foster Care Through Their Middle Twenties. US Department of Health and Human Services. Washington, DC: ASPE. https://aspe.hhs.gov/basic-report/coming-age-employment-outcomes-youth-who-age-out-foster-care-through-their-middle-twenties.
- O'Neale, Shalita. n.d. "Foster Care and Homelessness." *Foster Focus Magazine*, n.d. https://www.fosterfocusmag.com/articles/foster-care-and-homelessness.
- Pac, Jessica, Jane Waldfogel, and Christopher Wimer. 2017. "Poverty Among Foster Children: Estimates Using the Supplemental Poverty Measure." *Social Service Review* 91, no. 1 (March): 8–40. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5484162/.
- Ramsey, Ross. 2020. "Analysis: For Foster Children in Texas, a State of Despair." *Texas Tribune*, June 17, 2020. https://www.texastribune.org/2020/06/17/foster-children-texas-despair/.
- Texas Department of Family and Protective Services (DFPS). n.d. "Employment Preference for Former Foster Youth." Accessed January 30, 2021. https://www.dfps.state.tx.us/Child_Protection/Youth_and_Young_Adults/Transitional_Living/employment.asp.
- Texas Foster Youth Justice Project (TFYJP). 2021. Phone conversation with Mary Christine-Reed and the Texas Foster Youth Justice Project (TFYJP), January 2021.
- Texas Legislature. n.d.a. "Education Code Chapter 54. Tuition and Fees." Texas Constitution and Statutes. Accessed January 30, 2021. https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/ED/htm/ED.54.htm.
- Texas Legislature. n.d.b. "Government Code Chapter 672. Employment Preference for Former Foster Children." Texas Constitution and Statutes. Accessed January 30, 2021. https://statutes.capitol.texas.gov/Docs/GV/htm/GV.672.htm.
- US Department of Labor (DOL). 2020. "US Department of Labor Announces New Guidance on Unemployment Insurance Flexibilities during COVID-19 Outbreak: U.S. Department of Labor." News release, March 12, 2020. https://www.dol.gov/newsroom/releases/eta/eta20200312-0.
- Wiltz, Teresa. 2017. "For Foster Care Kids, College Degrees Are Elusive." *Stateline* (blog). Pew Charitable Trusts. December 7, 2017. <a href="https://www.pewtrusts.org/en/research-and-analysis/blogs/stateline/2017/12/07/for-foster-care-kids-college-degrees-are-elusive#:~:text=But%20research%20shows%20that%20foster.of%20high%20school%20graduates%20overall.



EXPANDING BALLOT ACCESS IN MASSACHUSETTS THROUGH PERMANENT IMPLEMENTATION OF VOTE-BY-MAIL AND ALL-MAIL ELECTIONS

- Alvarez, R. Michael, Ines Levin, and J. Andrew Sinclair. 2012. "Making Voting Easier: Convenience Voting in the 2008 Presidential Election." Political Research Quarterly 65, no. 2 (April): 248—62. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/1065912911398048.
- Amar-Dolan, Jeremy. 2014. "The Voting Rights Act and the Fifteenth Amendment Standard of Review." *University of Pennsylvania Journal of Constitutional Law* 16, no. 5: 1—4. https://www.pennjournalconlaw.com/uploads/4/7/5/47752841/16.5_amar-dolan.pdf.
- American Civil Liberties Union (ACLU). 2020. "Block the Vote: Voter Suppression in 2020." ACLU, February 3, 2020. https://www.aclu.org/news/civil-liberties/block-the-vote-voter-suppression-in-2020/.
- Balsamo, Michael. 2020. "Disputing Trump, Barr Says No Widespread Election Fraud." *Associated Press*, December 1, 2020. https://apnews.com/article/barr-no-widespread-election-fraud-b1f1488796c9a98c4b1a9061a6c7f49d.
- Benner, Katie. 2021. "Trump's Acting Attorney General to Affirm There Was No Evidence of Widespread Voter Fraud in 2020." New York Times, May 11, 2020, sec. Politics. https://www.nytimes.com/2021/05/11/us/politics/rosen-fraud-congress-testimony-trump.html.
- Brennan Center for Justice. 2017. *Debunking the Voter Fraud Myth*. Washington, DC: Brennan Center for Justice. https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/research-reports/debunking-voter-fraud-myth.
- Brennan Center for Justice. 2018. "The Effects of Shelby County v. Holder." Brennan Center for Justice, August 6, 2018. https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/policy-solutions/effects-shelby-county-v-holder.
- Brennan Center for Justice. 2021. *Voting Laws Roundup 2021*. Washington, DC: Brennan Center for Justice. https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/research-reports/voting-laws-roundup-2021.
- Brooks, Anthony. 2021. "Vote By Mail: Why Mass. Dems Want To Make The Pandemic Measure Permanent." WBUR, March 19, 2021, sec. News. https://www.wbur.org/news/2021/03/19/vote-by-mail-why-mass-dems-want-to-make-the-pandemic-measure-permanent.
- California Secretary of State. n.d. "Statewide Election Results." Statewide Election Results Archive. Accessed February 8, 2021. https://www.sos.ca.gov/elections/prior-elections/statewide-election-results.
- Chotiner, Isaac. 2020. "How Washington State Holds its Elections by Mail." *New Yorker*, September 8, 2020, sec. Q&A. https://www.newyorker.com/news/q-and-a/how-washington-state-holds-its-elections-by-mail.
- DeSilver, Drew. 2021. *Turnout Soared in 2020 as Nearly Two-Thirds of Eligible US Voters Cast Ballots for President*. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2021/01/28/turnout-soared-in-2020-as-nearly-two-thirds-of-eligible-u-s-voters-cast-ballots-for-president/.
- Fox, Jeremy C. 2020. "Mass. Reports Record Voter Turnout, Embrace of Mail-in." *Boston Globe*, November 20, 2020, sec. Metro. https://www.bostonglobe.com/2020/11/20/metro/mass-reports-record-voter-turnout-embrace-mail-in-voting/.
- Fulwood III, Sam. 2014. "Why Young, Minority, and Low-Income Citizens Don't Vote." Center for American Progress, November 6, 2014. Center for American Progress. https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/race/news/2014/11/06/100627/why-young-minority-and-low-income-citizens-dont-vote/.
- Hernandez, Michael D. 2014. "All-Mail Elections." National Conference of State Legislatures, September 2014. National Conference of State Legislatures. https://www.ncsl.org/research/elections-and-campaigns/all-mail-elections635457869.aspx.
- Library of Congress. n.d. "Voting Rights for African Americans." Library of Congress, n.d. https://www.loc.gov/classroom-materials/elections/right-to-vote/voting-rights-for-african-americans/.





- Massachusetts Voter Table. 2018. Claiming Our Power: Closing the Racial Civic Participation Gap in Massachusetts. Boston: Massachusetts Voter Table. https://staticl.squarespace.com/static/57c6d8b729687fde090b28db/t/5ba29f632b6a28b44dbf d26f/1537384294619/RME-Voter-Share-Report-2018.pdf.
- McReynolds, Amber and Charles Stewart III. 2020. "Let's Put the Vote-by-Mail 'Fraud' Myth to Rest." *The Hill*, April 28, 2020, sec. Opinion. https://thehill.com/opinion/campaign/494189-lets-put-the-vote-by-mail-fraud-myth-to-rest.
- Montjoy, Robert S. 2010. "The Changing Nature ... and Costs ... of Election Administration." *Public Administration Review* 70, no. 6: 867—75. http://www.jstor.org/stable/40927103.
- Office of Senator Becca Rausch. n.d. "2020 Vote by Mail Act." Accessed May 17, 2021. https://www.beccarauschma.com/2020-vote-by-mail-act.
- Office of William Francis Galvin. n.d. "Elections: Absentee Voting." Accessed May 17, 2021. https://www.sec.state.ma.us/ele/eleabsentee/absidx.htm.
- Pew Charitable Trusts. 2016. *Colorado Voting Reforms: Early Results*. Philadelphia: PCT. https://www.pewtrusts.org/~/media/assets/2016/03/coloradovotingreformsearlyresults.pdf.
- Pew Research Center. 2014. *The Party of Nonvoters: Younger, More Racially Diverse, More Financially Strapped.* Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2014/10/31/the-party-of-nonvoters-2/.
- Pew Research Center. 2020. Two-Thirds of Americans Expect Presidential Election Will Be Disrupted by COVID-19. Washington, DC: Pew Research Center. https://www.pewresearch.org/politics/2020/04/28/two-thirds-of-americans-expect-presidential-election-will-be-disrupted-by-covid-19/.
- Richman, Jesse, and Andrew Pate. 2010. "Can the College Vote Turn Out?: Evidence From the US States, 2000—08." *State Politics & Policy Quarterly* 10, no. 1 (spring): 51—68. https://www.jstor.org/stable/27867133.
- Ruggles, Rick. 2020. "Nebraska Sets Record with 2020 Turnout; More than 950,000 Voters Cast Ballots." *Omaha World-Herald*, November 4, 2020, sec. Government and Politics. https://omaha.com/news/state-and-regional/govt-and-politics/nebraska-sets-record-with-2020-turnout-more-than-950-000-voters-cast-ballots/article_787949aa-ed11-58c5-9174-afdf4ac5ecba.html.
- Sailor, Craig, and Phillip Reese. 2020. "Mail-In Ballots Help but Don't Remove All Voting Barriers." *Governing*, October 21, 2020. https://www.governing.com/now/mail-in-ballots-help-but-dont-remove-all-voting-barriers.html.
- Schoenberg, Shira. 2020. "Mail-in Voting May Be Here to Stay." *CommonWealth Magazine*, November 2, 2020, sec. Politics. https://commonwealthmagazine.org/politics/mail-in-voting-may-be-here-to-stay/.
- Stout, Matt. 2021. "Voting by Mail Worked in 2020. Ideas Are Surfacing about How Massachusetts Can Make It Permanent." *Boston Globe*, January 10, 2021, sec. Metro. https://www.bostonglobe.com/2021/01/10/metro/voting-by-mail-worked-2020-ideas-are-surfacing-about-how-massachusetts-can-make-it-permanent/.
- The 192nd General Court of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (GCoCoM). n.d. "Bill H. 4820." Accessed February 1, 2021. https://malegislature.gov/bills/191/h4820.
- Thompson, Daniel M., Jennifer Wu, Jesse Yoder, and Andrew B. Hall. 2020. "The Neutral Partisan Effects of Vote-by-Mail: Evidence from County-Level Roll-Outs." Working Paper no. 20-015. Stanford Institute for Economic Policy Research (SIEPR). https://siepr.stanford.edu/research/publications/neutral-partisan-effects-vote-mail-evidence-county-level-roll-outs.
- Trenchard, Seth. 2011. *Policy Brief: An Analysis of All Vote By Mail Elections*. Lincoln, NE: Nebraskans for Civic Reform. https://www.civicnebraska.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/11/All-VBM-NE-Policy-Brief.pdf.
- US Census Bureau. n.d. "Voting and Registration in the Election of November 2016." US Census Bureau. Accessed February 1, 2021. https://www.census.gov/data/tables/time-series/demo/voting-and-registration/p20-580.html.





- United States Election Project. n.d. "Voter Turnout Demographics United States Elections Project." Accessed May 17, 2021. http://www.electproject.org/home/voter-turnout/demographics.
- Wildstein, David. 2021. "Murphy Says April, May Elections Will Have in-Person Voting." *New Jersey Globe*, February 8, 2021, sec. Campaigns. https://newjerseyglobe.com/fr/murphy-says-april-may-elections-will-have-in-person-voting/.

IMPROVING HEALTH IN SOUTH LOS ANGELES BY REDUCING LOCAL OIL DEVELOPMENT

- American Lung Association. 2020. "Nearly Half of US Breathing Unhealthy Air; Record-Breaking Air Pollution in Nine Western Cities." Press release, April 21, 2020. https://www.lung.org/media/press-releases/state-of-the-air-2020.
- California Department of Conservation. n.d. "Well Finder." Accessed February 13, 2021. https://www.conservation.ca.gov/calgem/Pages/WellFinder.aspx.
- Collier-Oxandale, Ashley, Nicole Wong, Sandy Navarro, Jill Johnston, and Michael Hannigan. 2020. "Using Gas-Phase Air Quality Sensors to Disentangle Potential Sources in a Los Angeles Neighborhood." *Atmospheric Environment* 233, (July). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2020.117519.
- California State University, Fullerton. "Dirty Air Costs California Economy \$28 Billion Annually." News release, November 12, 2008. http://calstate.fullerton.edu/news/2008/091-air-pollution-study.html.
- Garcia-Gonzales, Diane A., Bhavna Shamasunder, and Michael Jerrett. 2019. "Distance Decay Gradients in Hazardous Air Pollution Concentrations around Oil and Natural Gas Facilities in the City of Los Angeles: A Pilot Study." *Environmental Research* 173 (June): 232—36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2019.03.027.
- Office of Governor Gavin Newsom. 2020. "Governor Newsom Announces California Will Phase Out Gasoline-Powered Cars & Drastically Reduce Demand for Fossil Fuel in California's Fight Against Climate Change." Press release, September 23, 2020. https://www.gov.ca.gov/2020/09/23/governor-newsom-announces-california-will-phase-out-gasoline-powered-cars-drastically-reduce-demand-for-fossil-fuel-in-californias-fight-against-climate-change/.
- Reyes, Emily Alpert. 2015. "Oil Company to Yank Controversial South LA Drilling Application." *Los Angeles Times*, January 15, 2015. https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-oil-drilling-application-20150115-story.html.
- Romley, John A., Andrew Hackbarth, and Dana P. Goldman. 2010. *Cost and Health Consequences of Air Pollution in California*. Santa Monica, CA: RAND Corporation. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_briefs/RB9501.html.
- Shamasunder, Bhavna. 2018a. "Neighborhood Oil Drilling and Environmental Justice in Los Angeles" in *Inevitably Toxic*: *Historical Perspectives on Contamination, Exposure, and Expertise*, edited by Brinda Sarathy, Vivien Hamilton, and Janet Farrell Brodie, 358–401. Pittsburgh, PA: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Shamasunder, Bhavna, et al. 2018b. "Community-based Health and Exposure Study around Urban Oil Developments in South Los Angeles." International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 15, no. 1 (January): 138. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15010138.
- Shamasunder, Bhavna, et al. 2020. "Crude Justice: Community-based Research amid Oil Development in South Los Angeles." In Toxic Truths, edited by Thom Davies and Alice Mah, 82–98. Manchester, UK: Manchester University Press.
- STAND-LA. n.d.a. "History of Oil in Los Angeles." Accessed February 13, 2021. https://www.stand.la/history-of-oil-in-los-angeles. https://www.stand.la/history-of-oil-in-los-angeles.
- STAND-LA. n.d.b. "The Jefferson Site." Accessed February 13, 2021. https://www.stand.la/jefferson.html.
- United States Census Bureau. n.d. "QuickFacts: Los Angeles County, California." Accessed May 17, 2021. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/losangelescountycalifornia/PST045219.





ENDING PARKING MINIMUMS IN BOSTON TO IMPROVE LIVABILITY

- A Better City. 2016. Future of Parking in Boston: Addressing the Need to Promote Economic Opportunity, Enhance Community Access, and Reduce Parking Demand. Boston, MA: A Better City. https://www.abettercity.org/docs-new/Future_of_Parking_in_Boston.pdf.
- Center for Neighborhood Technology (CNT). 2016. *Stalled Out: How Empty Parking Spaces Diminish Neighborhood Affordability*. Chicago, IL: CNT. https://www.cnt.org/sites/default/files/publications/CNT_Stalled%20Out_0.pdf.
- Centers for Disease Control (CDC). 2017. "Protecting Vulnerable Groups from Extreme Heat." Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, June 19, 2017. https://www.cdc.gov/disasters/extremeheat/specificgroups.html.
- Chan, Maxine, Greg Gapski, Kevin Hurley, Estuardo Ibarra, Laura Pin, Aliza Shupac, and Eva Szabo. 2016. *Bike Lanes, On-Street Parking and Business: A Study of Queen Street West in Toronto's Parkdale Neighbourhood.* Toronto, ON, Canada: Centre for Active Transportation. https://www.tcat.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Bike-Lanes-On-Street-Parking-and-Business_-A-Study-of-Queen-Street-West-in-Toronto%E2%80%99s-Parkdale-Neighbourhood.pdf.
- Boston Planning and Development Agency (BPDA). n.d. "Imagine Boston 2030 Implementation." BPDA. Accessed May 18, 2021. http://www.bostonplans.org/planning/imagine-boston-2030-implementation."
- City of Boston. 2021. "Boston Climate Action." Last updated February 5, 2021. https://www.boston.gov/departments/ environment/boston-climate-action.
- New York City Department of Transportation (DOT). 2013. *The Economic Benefits of Sustainable Streets*. New York: NYC DOT. http://www.nyc.gov/html/dot/downloads/pdf/dot-economic-benefits-of-sustainable-streets.pdf.
- Massachusetts Department of Transportation (MassDOT). 2019. "Congestion in the Commonwealth." Accessed May 18, 2021. https://www.mass.gov/service-details/congestion-in-the-commonwealth."
- Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC). n.d. "Massachusetts Vehicle Municipal Summary Statistics (Municipal)." MAPC, Massachusetts Registry of Motor Vehicles (MA RMV). Accessed April 28, 2021. https://datacommon.mapc.org/browser/datasets/330.
- Metropolitan Area Planning Council (MAPC). 2019. "Perfect Fit Parking." MAPC. Accessed January 25, 2021. https://perfectfitparking.mapc.org.
- Moura, Maria Cecilia Pinto de, and David Reichmuth. 2019. Inequitable Exposure to Air Pollution from Vehicles in the Northeast and Mid-Atlantic. Cambridge, MA: Union of Concerned Scientists. https://www.ucsusa.org/resources/ inequitable-exposure-air-pollution-vehicles.
- Poon, Linda. 2017. "Buffalo Becomes First City to Bid Minimum Parking Goodbye." *Bloomberg CityLab*, January 9, 2017. https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-01-09/buffalo-is-the-first-to-abandon-minimum-parking-requirements-citywide.
- Schmitt, Angie. 2017. "Hartford Eliminates Parking Minimums Citywide." *Streetsblog USA*, December 13, 2017. https://usa.streetsblog.org/2017/12/13/hartford-eliminates-parking-minimums-citywide/.
- Shyduroff, Sasha. 2019. "Wicked Hot Boston: Documenting Extreme Heat in the Greater Boston Area." *Metropolitan Area Planning Council* (blog), June 19, 2019. https://www.mapc.org/planning101/wicked-hot-boston-documenting-extreme-heat-in-the-greater-boston-area/.
- Spivak, Jeffrey. 2018. "People Over Parking." American Planning Association (APA), October, 2018. APA. https://www.planning.org/planning/2018/oct/peopleoverparking/.
- Strong Towns. n.d. "End Parking Minimums." Brainerd, MN: Strong Towns. https://www.strongtowns.org/parking.





Teaman, Rachel. 2019. "Buffalo Green Code, with a National Award, Builds on 20 Years of Planning for Place-Based Urban Regeneration." *AP News*, July 9, 2019. http://ap.buffalo.edu/news/2019/greencode_driehaus.html.

Mancini Nichols, Crissy. 2019. "Are Parking Minimums a Thing of the Past?" Walker Consultants (blog). Walker Consultants. San Francisco: Walker Consultants. February 13, 2019. https://walkerconsultants.com/blog/2019/02/13/are-parking-minimums-a-thing-of-the-past/.



ROOSEVELTINSTITUTE.ORG